EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP AMONG SCHOOL COUNSELORS' MULTICULTURAL SELF-EFFICACY AND LEADERSHIP PRACTICES

by

Tracey R. Albert A Dissertation Submitted to the **Graduate Faculty** of

George Mason University in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree

of Doctor of Philosophy Education

Committee: Par galla	Chair
Anastasia Kilsantas	Program Director
Mar Rla C	Dean, College of Education and Human Development
Date: July 18, 2016	Summer Semester 2016 George Mason University Fairfax, VA

Examining the Relationship among School Counselors' Multicultural Self-Efficacy and Leadership Practices

A Dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at George Mason University

by

Tracey R. Albert Master of Education Howard University, 2008 Bachelor of Arts Howard University, 2006

Director: Regine Talleyrand, Associate Professor College of Education and Human Development

> Summer Semester 2016 George Mason University Fairfax, VA



This work is licensed under a <u>creative commons</u> attribution-noderivs 3.0 unported license

Dedication

This research project is dedicated to my parents who worked hard to ensure that I could pursue my dreams and who instilled in me a belief in "purpose." Thank you for your guidance, prayers, love, and encouragement.

Acknowledgements

God's love has sustained me through this process and I am overwhelmed with gratitude. I am thankful for my loving family, amazing fiancé Anthony, and my dissertation committee (Drs. Talleyrand, Williams, Bemak and Kitsantas) for being an invaluable support to me throughout the dissertation process.

Anthony, thank you for being with me every step of the way, celebrating every milestone and making sure I stayed sane through it all. Thank you for being my "rock" and for making sure I had the energy to keep going. Your love, patience, and calm demeanor through my doctoral journey have been priceless. Now, let's get married!

Dr. Talleyrand, you have been an amazing dissertation chair and I am so grateful for all the support you have shown me since "day 1" of me being in the doctoral program. I am so thankful for your countless encouraging words and for facilitating opportunities for me to work with counselors in training. I have learned so much from you throughout my time in the Ph.D. program.

Dr. Williams, I am so appreciative of the opportunity to work with you as a GRA over the past five years and for all the support you have shown me. Your research is inspiring and meaningful and it has been an amazing opportunity for me to be actively involved in various projects. Your work has inspired and challenged me to grow, thank you!

Dr. Bemak, your research is what originally led me to GMU and it has been such an honor to work with you over the past five years. Through our conversations, witnessing you in the classroom, and having you as a professor; I have grown tremendously! You & Dr. Chung have definitely inspired me to grow as a scholar and social justice advocate and I am grateful for every opportunity to learn from both of you.

Dr. Kitsantas, thank you for being the most patient research methodologist that I know! I appreciate your peaceful demeanor (that is much needed when tackling quantitative research!). I truly appreciate all your thoughtful feedback and willingness to support.

I must also acknowledge my ancestors who paved the way for me to pursue higher education. I am thankful for their inspiration, perseverance and sacrifice.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	Page
Abstract	
Chapter One	
Introduction	
Background	
Statement of the Problem	
Significance of the Problem	
Purpose of the Study	
Theoretical Framework	
Definitions	15
Chapter Two	17
Review of Literature	17
Self-Efficacy Theory	19
Counselor self-efficacy.	21
School Counselor Multicultural Self-Efficacy	23
Transformational Leadership	29
School Counselor Leadership	31
School counselors as multicultural leaders	38
Multicultural Leadership	40
Summary	42
Chapter Three	45
Research Questions	45
Research Design	46
Participants	47
Measures	48
Sociodemographic questionnaire	48
School Counseling Multicultural Efficacy Scale (SCMES)	
Leadership Practices Inventory, Self-Form (LPI)	51
Procedures	

Data Analysis	55
Chapter Four	59
Results	59
Participants	59
Descriptive Statistics	62
SCMES.	62
LPI	64
Preliminary Analysis: One-Way ANOVAs	66
SCMES and race/ethnicity	66
SCMES and years of experience	70
SCMES and school urbanicity	72
LPI and race/ethnicity, years of experience, and school urbanicity	74
Correlational Analyses	75
Hierarchal Multiple Regression Analyses	77
Summary	81
Chapter Five	84
Discussion	84
Multicultural Self-Efficacy	85
Leadership Practices	90
Multicultural Self-Efficacy and Leadership Practices	94
Hypothesis one	94
Hypothesis two	96
Implications and Recommendations	99
Counseling practice.	99
Counselor education training.	102
Future research.	106
Limitations	108
Conclusion	109
Appendix A	110
Appendix B	111
Appendix C	115
Appendix D	117

Appendix E	119
Appendix F	120
References	125

List of Tables

Table	Page
Table 1. Data Analytic Techniques for Research Questions	58
Table 2. Demographic Characteristics of Participants	61
Table 3. Means, Standard Deviations, Cronbach Alpha Coefficients for the SCMES.	63
Table 4. Means, Standard Deviations, Cronbach Alpha Coefficients for the LPI	65
Table 5. One-Way Analysis of Variance by Race/Ethnicity	67
Table 6. One-Way Analysis of Variance by Years of Experience	70
Table 7. One-Way Analysis of Variance by School Urbanicity	72
Table 8. Pearson Linear Correlation between School Counselor Multicultural Self-	
Efficacy and Leadership	75
Table 9. Summary of Hierarchal Multiple Regression Analayis for Variables Predict	ting
Leadership	78

Abstract

EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP AMONG SCHOOL COUNSELORS'

MULTICULTURAL SELF-EFFICACY AND LEADERSHIP PRACTICES

Tracey R. Albert, Ph.D.

George Mason University, 2016

Dissertation Director: Dr. Regine Talleyrand

This quantitative research study aimed to examine the relationship among school

counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices. Specifically, this study

attempted to determine if school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy (i.e., knowledge

of multicultural concepts, using data and understanding systemic change, developing

cross-cultural relationships, multicultural counseling awareness, multicultural

assessment, and applying racial and cultural knowledge to practice) predicted their

leadership practices. This study included a nationwide sample of 212 school counselors.

Findings from this study revealed positive, statistically significant correlations between

school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices. Findings also

revealed that school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy accounted for over a third of

the variance in school counselors' leadership practices, suggesting that school

counselors' multicultural capabilities are strongly related to their leadership practices.

Results from this study could assist counselor educators and researchers in identifying

multicultural factors that might impact school counselors' effectiveness as leaders in the

diverse contexts of today's schools.

Chapter One

Introduction

Achievement, opportunity, and attainment gaps persist in the United States between students of color and White students and between students from low income families and students from middle- and upper-income families (Chen-Hayes & Gertch, 2015). For instance, only 18 percent of Native American fourth-graders are proficient or advanced in reading, based on the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), as compared with over 40 percent of White fourth graders (Education Trust, 2014). Similarly; NAEP scores indicate that White eighth graders are over twice as likely to be proficient or advanced in math compared to Latino students (Education Trust, 2014).

Many high achieving students of color and students from low-socioeconomic backgrounds, leave high school with lower AP exam rates, lower SAT/ACT scores, and lower GPAs than their high achieving white and more advantaged peers (Bromberg, & Theokas, 2014). For example; African American students comprise 14.7% of the national student population yet they make up only 9% of the AP student population, compared to White students that comprise 57.1% of AP exam takers (Collegeboard, 2012).

After high school, these achievement gaps continue. According to the National Center for Education Statistics (Kena et al., 2015), between 1990 and 2013, the size of

the White-Black gap and White-Hispanic gap in levels of educational attainment has widened significantly. In 2013, the percentage of 25 to 29 year olds that attained a bachelor's or higher degree was highest for whites at 40 percent compared to only 20 percent for Blacks and 16 percent for Hispanics (Kena et al., 2015).

Research has shown that these academic inequities are a result of historical, sociopolitical, sociocultural, and institutional factors rather than students' capabilities (Bemak, 2005; Bemak & Chung, 2008; Bemak, Chung, & Sirosky-Sabado, 2005).

Racial/ethnic minority students have suffered greatly due to racism and, as a result, have often been systematically overrepresented in at-risk programs and intellectual and learning disabilities categories, and systematically underrepresented in advanced and gifted academic programs (Huber, Hynds, Skelton, Papacek, Gonzalez, & Lacy, 2012; Ladson-Billings, 1998; Plucker, Burroughs, & Song, 2010).

School counselor educators have written extensively on the critical roles of advocacy and leadership by school counselors to promote college and career readiness and increase academic achievement, particularly for historically marginalized, racial/ethnic minority students (Carey & Dimmitt, 2012; Chen-Hayes, Ockerman, & Mason, 2013; Janson, 2009; Ratts, DeKruyf, & Chen-Hayes, 2007). Given persistent achievement gaps that disproportionately impact students of color, the school counseling profession has described leadership as one of the most critical skills of school counselors in the 21st century (ASCA, 2003, 2005, 2010, 2012).

School counselor leadership is needed to address the rising ethnic, cultural, and linguistic diversity in U.S. schools and ensure that all students have equitable access to a

high-quality education. Between 2002 and 2012, the number of White students enrolled in public elementary and secondary schools in the U.S. decreased from 28.6 million to 25.4 million and their percentage of enrollment decreased from 59 to 51 percent (NCES, 2015). In contrast, the number of Hispanic students enrolled during this same time period increased from 8.6 million to 12.1 million, and their percentage of enrollment increased from 18 to 24 percent (NCES, 2015). Further, by fall 2024 racial/ethnic minority students are expected to become the "majority" within U.S. schools with population projections for White students at 46%, Hispanic students at 29%, Black students at 15%, Asian/Pacific Islander students at 6%, Multiracial students at 4%, and American Indian/Alaska Native students at 1% (NCES, 2015).

As diversity within the U.S. educational system continues to grow rapidly, school counselors' leadership skills in the realm of multiculturalism have become increasingly important (Evans, Zambrano, Cook, Moyer, & Duffey, 2011; Lee, 2001). The American School Counselor Association (ASCA), the national organization that provides standards for the profession of school counseling; has charged school counselors with being leaders in schools that advocate for students regarding equity and access, that help students and their families navigate systems of oppression and injustice, and that act as agents of change within their school communities (ASCA, 2010).

Numerous researchers have highlighted that school counselor leadership is needed to promote the academic success of culturally diverse students that have been historically marginalized and underserved (e.g., Carey & Dimmitt, 2012; Chen-Hayes, Ockerman, & Mason, 2013; Janson, Stone, & Clark, 2009; Ratts, DeKruyf, & Chen-Hayes, 2007).

However; despite the need for school counselor leadership cited in literature, little is known about school counselors' leadership practices (Mason & McMahon, 2009), and research that explores school counselors' leadership practices in relation to any multicultural considerations is relatively non-existent. This is a serious issue.

Additional research is needed to provide insight on school counselors' leadership practices, particularly exploring multicultural factors that might impact school counselors' effectiveness as leaders. Literature from within the field of educational leadership supports that educational leaders must acquire the necessary knowledge and skills to create multiculturally and socially just school communities (e.g., Barakat, Witte, & Witte, 2013; Gerstl-Pepin & Aiken, 2012; Horsford, Grosland, & Gunn, 2011).

Scholars have noted that achievement gaps might be, in part, perpetuated by educational leaders lack of multicultural knowledge and skills (Huber et al., 2012; Sirin, Rogers-Sirin, & Collins, 2010). It seems imperative to examine school counselors' leadership practices while simultaneously gaining insight on their multicultural capabilities, to ensure that school counselors are adequately equipped to promote the academic achievement and personal/social success of ethnically and culturally diverse students.

As a construct, multicultural self-efficacy reflects professional counselors' perceived abilities (i.e., beliefs) to carry out and perform tasks that are relevant and specific to equity among students in K-12 schools, and the ethnically and culturally diverse needs of K-12 students (Holcomb-McCoy, Harris, Hines, & Johnston, 2008). According to Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008), professional school counselors with higher levels of multicultural self-efficacy are more likely to believe that they have the capacity

to understand multicultural and diversity concepts, are more likely to identify student inequities, are more likely to challenge barriers to academic achievement, and are more likely to be satisfied with their work with culturally diverse students and families.

Extending the limited body of school counseling leadership literature to include an examination of multicultural self-efficacy could provide insight regarding what is lacking in school counselors' development or effectiveness as leaders. Thus, this study will examine the relationship among school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices. The findings from this study could help us understand if how school counselors internalize how competent they believe they are to work with diverse youth impacts their ability to engage in leadership practices.

Further, this study will address a significant void in counseling literature through conducting a quantitative study of school counseling leadership that explores the relationship between school counselors' leadership practices and a multicultural construct (i.e., multicultural self-efficacy). There has not been a study in school counseling, to date, that has explored the relationships among these constructs. The results from this study have potential implications for enhancing future leadership development training of practicing school counselors and counselors in training.

Background. The current discourse on school counselor leadership can be traced to the "Transforming School Counseling Initiative [TSCI]" from the late 1990's (Education Trust, 1996). The TSCI was a national initiative that articulated a "new vision" of school counseling that depicted school counselors taking on leadership roles within schools and working systemically to help all students succeed (McMahon, Mason,

& Paisley, 2009). The emphasis of this reform effort was to provide school counselors with the knowledge and skills that they needed in order to close achievement gaps between underserved populations of students (Dollarhide & Saginak, 2008).

A national conversation on school counselling emerged calling for school counselors to use leadership skills in the design, implementation, and evaluation of comprehensive school counseling programs that advocated for better outcomes for all students (Martin, 2002). The goal of the TSCI was ultimately to ensure that school counselors served as leaders as well as effective team members working with teachers, administrators, and other school personnel to make sure that each student succeeded (Education Trust, 1996). Within this vision existed a concentrated effort on closing the achievement gap between poor and minority children and those who are more advantaged, through targeted intervention.

The "new vision" of school counseling was further articulated by The American School Counseling Association (ASCA), through the creation of the ASCA National Model (2003) which emphasized four essential skills for the implementation of a comprehensive school counseling program: leadership, advocacy, collaboration, and systemic change. Since the TSCI, ASCA has published seminal works to support the emerging role of school counselors as educational leaders, such as the Ethical Guidelines for School Counselors (ASCA, 2010), the National Standards for School Counseling (Campbell & Dahir, 1997), and additional versions of the ASCA National Model (2005, 2012).

After the initial publication of the ASCA National Model in 2003, the model was adopted by many states and school districts as a framework for a comprehensive school counseling program and utilized for training within counselor education programs (ASCA, 2012). The ASCA National Model (2012) revised previous versions of the model through expanding sections describing the model's core themes of leadership, collaboration, advocacy, and systemic change further emphasizing the school counseling profession's stance on the importance of school counselors serving as leaders and change agents in schools.

ASCA's ethical standards (2010), serve as the legal & ethical foundation of the school counseling profession, and asserts that professional school counselors should act as leaders in schools to create equity based school counseling programs that help close any achievement, opportunity, and attainment gaps that deny all students the chance to pursue their educational goals. ASCA's ethical standards (2010) are currently being revised and proposed draft standards highlight the importance of leadership for the school counseling profession, noting in the preamble that school counselors are advocates, leaders, collaborators and consultants who create systemic change by providing equitable educational access and success and by connecting their school counseling programs to the district's mission and improvement plans (ASCA, 2016).

In addition to articulating the overall importance of school counselors serving as leaders, ASCA (2012) notes that as educational leaders, school counselors must develop their cultural proficiency and acknowledge how prejudice, power, and various forms of oppression affect students. In order to accomplish this, ASCA's standards (2010) assert

the importance of school counselors' monitoring and expanding their multicultural knowledge, awareness, and skills.

Statement of the Problem

There is a national call for school counselor leadership to reverse institutional barriers that lead to achievement and opportunity gaps, increase multicultural awareness for school district personnel, address diversity issues that impede educational reform efforts, and improve the educational experiences of traditionally marginalized students (ASCA, 2012; Dollarhide, 2003; Ndura et al., 2003; Ohrt et al., 2009). However, the problem is that (despite these national calls for leadership) a large number of school counselors are still not serving as leaders within their schools and research to identify factors that might enhance school counselors' leadership capabilities is limited (House & Sears, 2002; Janson et al., 2009; Mason & McMahon, 2009).

This is concerning given the complex multicultural issues that are inherent in today's schools such as achievement gaps, demographic divides, and racial disparities.

These multicultural challenges require effective leadership (Agosto et.al., 2013;

Horsford, 2010; Horsford, Grosland, & Gunn, 2011; Valencia, & Solorzano, 1997). For instance, while the student population in the U.S. continues to grow increasingly diverse, more than 80% of teachers and educational administrators, and over 70 percent of counselors remain White (Bitterman, Goldring, & Gray, 2013; Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2014). The widening demographic divide, and cultural mismatch, between students and school staff present unique challenges for leadership in schools that require multicultural skills.

Within the diverse contexts of today's schools, school counselors have tremendous challenges presented to them that require multiculturalism to be embedded within their leadership practices (Evans et al., 2011). The rich cultural diversity of students and families represented in today's public school system requires school leaders who possess not only the knowledge, skills, and dispositions to effectively educate and advocate for diverse students but also the will to use them (Horsford et al., 2011). As school leaders, school counselors must have the capacity and motivation to lead culturally diverse school communities and address complex issues of diversity (Horsford et al., 2011). In order for school counselors to effectively address the complex issues of diversity; they must have the multicultural knowledge, awareness, and skills to lead this challenging work.

Despite an increased emphasis on cultural competence within the counseling profession; many counselors enter the field without adequate multicultural skills suggesting that school counselors may not have the multicultural capabilities needed to serve as effective leaders in schools (Arredondo, 2008). Researchers have noted various internal and external challenges that impede school counselors' leadership efforts such as role inconsistencies, lack of administrative support, fear of failure and risk taking, and lack of leadership training (Amatea & West- Olatunji, 2007; Janson et.al, 2009; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010). Further; research has noted that time constraints and the assignment of "non-counseling" duties pose significant challenges to school counselors assuming leadership roles in schools (McLendon, 2015). However, research has yet to

explore if school counselors' lack of multicultural skills might also pose significant barriers to their leadership efforts.

Research is needed to explore this further. Currently, there is only a limited body of literature in school counseling leadership (Clemens et al., 2009; Janson, 2009; Mason & McMahon, 2009; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010) and studies that explore any multicultural considerations related to school counselor leadership are relatively non-existent. Although literature asserts that leadership and advocacy are intertwined; such that school counselors must develop leadership skills to effectively advocate for culturally diverse students in order to promote equity and systemic change (ASCA, 2012; Chen-Hayes et al., 2013; Hartline & Cobia, 2012; Janson, 2009), leadership has received far less attention than advocacy in counseling literature (Mason & McMahon, 2009).

Additional research is needed to understand how to better train and support school counselors in employing leadership practices, particularly since leadership within the diverse contexts inherent in today's schools can be challenging and school counselors simultaneously possessing leadership and multicultural skills could lead to improved outcomes and decreased achievement gaps for students (Horsford et al., 2011; McLendon, 2015). The lack of school counselor leadership research related to multiculturalism has significant implications for identifying the leadership development needs of school counselors relevant to the diverse contexts of today's schools. Without adequate training in leadership that attends to multicultural issues, school counselors will be ill equipped to respond to the needs of culturally diverse students and their families (Evans et al., 2011).

Significance of the Problem

As noted by Mason and McMahon (2009), greater attention to leadership is critical, given that leadership is considered the foundation of all other essential skills in the counseling profession (i.e., advocacy, collaboration, and promoting systemic change). For example, acting as an advocate; using data to identify the needs of marginalized or underserved student groups; and collaborating with stakeholders and other educators to remove barriers to student success, all fall within the realm of leadership (Mason, McMahon & Paisley, 2009).

The American School Counselor Association (ASCA) has called for school counselors to be leaders that take action to ensure students of culturally diverse backgrounds have access to appropriate services and opportunities which promote the maximum development of the individual (ASCA, 2012). However, how can school counselors take such actions (to ensure that the needs of culturally diverse student populations are being addressed) without having the multicultural capabilities to engage in this work? What type of multicultural skills could enhance school counselors' effectiveness as leaders?

In order to answer these questions, additional research is needed regarding the relationship between school counselors' leadership practices and multiculturalism.

Counselor education programs could benefit from research to enhance leadership development training given that a key role of these preparation programs is to help school counseling students develop the knowledge, skills, and attitudes needed to act as educational leaders (ASCA, 2012). A lack of research on factors (and in particular

multicultural factors) that might impact school counselors' leadership practices, makes it challenging for counselor education programs to provide adequate leadership development training reflective of the multicultural skills that counselors will need to lead in today's schools.

Purpose of the Study

Thus, the purpose of this study is to understand the relationship among school counselors' leadership practices and multiculturalism. Specifically, this study will attempt to determine if school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy (i.e., knowledge of multicultural concepts, using data and understanding systemic change, developing cross-cultural relationships, multicultural counseling awareness, multicultural assessment, and applying racial and cultural knowledge to practice) predicts their leadership practices. That is, if how confident school counselors believe they are in meeting the needs of ethnically and culturally diverse students impacts their engagement in leadership practices in schools. An examination of the relationship between the constructs in this study can provide insight regarding how school counselors' beliefs in their own multicultural capabilities might impact their ability to engage in leadership practices in schools, which has implications for identifying the leadership development needs of practicing school counselors and counselors in training.

This study will extend the limited body of school counseling leadership research (Clemens et al., 2009; Janson, 2009; Mason & McMahon, 2009; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010) to include an examination of a multicultural construct (i.e., multicultural self-efficacy). Results from this study can have significant implications for counselor

education as well as inform the discourse surrounding the professional development needs of practicing school counselors, specifically as it relates to leadership. Given that there has not been a study to date that has examined the relationship among school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices, and there is a lack of empirical school counseling research on each of these constructs respectively; this study will address a significant void in research and provide a unique contribution to the counseling literature base.

Theoretical Framework

Informed by multiculturalism; the current study utilizes Bandura's (1977, 1982, 1986) self-efficacy theory. As noted by Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008); self-efficacy theory can be used as a framework for understanding professional school counselors' motivation and capabilities to perform tasks that are relevant and specific to promoting equity for diverse student populations. As an increasing number of students from culturally diverse backgrounds participate in the U.S. educational system; greater insight regarding school counselors' beliefs in their ability to apply appropriate techniques and interventions to meet the needs of these culturally diverse students is needed (Sue, Arredondo, & McDavis, 1992).

Self-efficacy is defined as the beliefs in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required to produce given attainments (Bandura, 1977). Self-efficacy theory is based on the premise that how people judge their own capabilities affects their motivation and behavior (Bandura, 1977). Individuals who perceive themselves as highly efficacious activate sufficient effort that, if well executed, produces

successful outcomes, whereas those who perceive low self-efficacy are likely to cease their efforts prematurely and fail on the task (Bandura, 1986).

As a construct, self-efficacy provides insight into the significance of examining school counselors' beliefs in their own capabilities and how stronger, perceived self-efficacy can positively impact counselor performance and motivation to address challenging issues (Bandura, 1997; Bodenhorn & Skaggs, 2005; Larson & Daniels, 1998). The challenging issues of diversity inherent in today's schools (i.e., achievement gaps, demographic divides, and racial disparities) make it imperative to examine school counselors' self-efficacy in relation to multiculturalism.

In addition to the complexity of the multicultural issues themselves, researchers have noted that leadership on behalf of multicultural issues can be very challenging and counselors often encounter systemic resistance (Arredondo, 2008; Evans et.al, 2011; Wines, 2013). For instance, Bemak and Chung (2008) noted that there are personal, professional, and political challenges faced by school counselors who seek to become leaders and advocates for diverse student populations.

Consistent with self-efficacy theory, expectations of personal efficacy determine whether an individual's coping behavior will be initiated, how much task-related effort will be expended, and how long that effort will be sustained despite disconfirming evidence (Bandura, 1977). Self-efficacy theory provides a framework to understand how school counselors with stronger self-efficacy may possess more motivation and commitment to successfully persist through challenges that may arise as a result of attempting to provide culturally responsive services for racially and culturally diverse

students, and attempting to advocate for programs and initiatives to address systemic inequities and achievement gaps in schools (Holcomb-McCoy at al., 2008). Examining school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy could be useful in identifying key multicultural skills (related to providing culturally responsive services and advocacy) that might support school counselors' capacities to serve as leaders in schools.

Definitions

For the purpose of this study, the following terms will be defined: leadership, leadership practices, multicultural competence, multicultural self-efficacy, self-efficacy, and transformational leadership.

Leadership. Leadership is defined as the art of mobilizing others to want to struggle for shared aspirations and involves a learnable set of practices accessible to anyone (Kouzes & Posner, 2003).

Leadership practices. For this study, leadership practices are measured by the Leadership Practices Inventory (LPI), which is a self-report instrument that measures the following exemplary practices of leadership outlined by Kouzes and Posner (2012): model the way, inspire a shared vision, challenge the process, enable others to act, and encourage the heart.

Multicultural competence. Multicultural competence is a counselor's attitudes/beliefs, knowledge, awareness, and skills in working with culturally diverse individuals (Sue et al., 1992).

Multicultural self-efficacy. The term multi-cultural self-efficacy is defined as professional counselors' perceived abilities (i.e. beliefs) to carry out and perform tasks

that are relevant and specific to equity among students in K-12 schools, and the ethnically and culturally diverse needs of K-12 students (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008).

Self-efficacy. Self-efficacy is defined as the beliefs in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required to produce given attainments (Bandura, 1977). Self-efficacy theory (Bandura 1977, 1982, 1986) assumes that how people judge their own capabilities affects their motivation and behavior.

Transformational leadership. Transformational leadership theory, first introduced by James Burns (1978), assumes that people who exhibit particular leadership behaviors can inspire others to higher levels of performance, dedication, motivation, and morality.

Chapter Two

Review of Literature

The reality of the current state of education in the United States can be described by the following: (a) only about 69 percent of Native American high school students graduate from high school on time, compared with over 85 percent of white students; (b) among Latino students with high potential for success in AP math, only 30 percent enroll in any such course; and (c) African American students are highly likely to be disciplined in ways that take them out of the classroom: making up only 16 percent of the total U.S. student population, yet 33 percent of students suspended once, 42 percent of students suspended more than once, and 34 percent of students expelled (Education Trust, 2014). Professional school counselors are needed to act as leaders in schools to create equity based school counseling programs that help close any achievement, opportunity, and attainment gaps that deny all students the chance to pursue their educational goals (ASCA, 2010). Arredondo (2008) argued that counselors' leadership skills and multicultural competency are intertwined by describing how culturally skilled counselors can recognize and discuss examples in which racism or bias might be imbedded in an institution and then, take action.

Through employing multicultural and leadership skills; school counselors can challenge teachers who have low expectations for students of color and administrators who promote policies and practices that perpetuate school systems that maintain inequities for minority students (Bemak & Chung, 2008). In a longitudinal study

following 8,400 10th grade students; researchers found African-American students were disproportionately subject to low teacher expectations (Gershenson, Holt, & Papageorge, 2016). It is clear that school counselor leadership is needed to uncover and challenge any systemic issues (such as racial biases) that might contribute to the academic underachievement of students of color. After uncovering systemic inequalities, school counselors can inspire and empower other stakeholders from within schools and communities to address the issues undermining the achievement of racial/ethnic minority students (ASCA, 2012; Chen-Hayes & Getch, 2015; Galassi & Akos, 2004).

School counselors possessing both leadership and multicultural skills could significantly impact student outcomes and decrease achievement gaps (McLendon, 2015). However, empirical research regarding the relationship between school counselors' leadership and multiculturalism is relatively non-existent. Given this void in research; examining studies related to self-efficacy, and specifically multicultural self-efficacy, can serve as a starting point to build insight regarding motivational and multicultural factors that might impact school counselors' capabilities to employ leadership practices in schools.

A review of literature on school counselor leadership, multicultural self-efficacy (and their related theories and constructs) suggests that exploring the relationships between these constructs could address the void in research, through building understanding of how school counselors' beliefs in their own multicultural capabilities might impact their leadership practices. In Chapter 2, a review of the literature and the issues are provided.

Self-Efficacy Theory

Self-efficacy theory can be used as a basis for understanding professional school counselors' motivation and capabilities to perform tasks that are relevant and specific to promoting equity for diverse student populations (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008).

Bandura (1997) defined self-efficacy as the beliefs in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required to produce given attainments. Further, self-efficacy refers to the beliefs in one's capabilities to mobilize the motivation, cognitive resources, and courses of action needed to meet given situational demands (Wood & Bandura, 1989).

Bandura's (1977, 1982, 1986) self-efficacy theory is used as a framework for researching behavioral tasks due to its predictive power in a variety of applications (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008). In a meta-analysis of 114 empirical self-efficacy studies, Stajkovic and Luthans (1998) found self-efficacy to be positively and strongly related to work related performance. The results of this study were consistent with two decades of empirical research that have generated a positive relationship between self-efficacy and different motivational and behavioral outcomes in clinical, educational, and organizational settings (Stajkovic & Luthans, 1998).

Self-efficacy theory is based on the premise that how people judge their own capabilities affects their motivation and behavior (Bandura, 1977). The stronger the perceived self-efficacy, the higher the goals people set for themselves and the firmer is their commitment to them (Bandura, 1981). Personal efficacy expectations can determine whether individuals take on challenging tasks and how much effort and persistence will

be employed to achieve those tasks (Bandura, 1977). Self-efficacy is an important motivational construct that influences individual's choices, goals, effort, coping, and persistence (Bandura, 1977). Thus, counselor self-efficacy may be a critical factor in examining counseling performance and persistence (Bodenhorn & Skaggs, 2005; Larson & Daniels, 1998).

According to Bandura's (1977, 1982, 1986) self-efficacy theory, expectations of personal self-efficacy determine whether coping behaviors will be initiated, how much effort will be expended, and how long it will be sustained in the face of obstacles and aversive experiences. The strength of people's convictions in their own effectiveness is likely to affect whether they will even try to cope with given situations (Bandura, 1977). Furthermore, as stated by Bandura (1977), people fear and tend to avoid threatening situations they believe exceed their coping skills, whereas they get involved in activities and behave assuredly when they judge themselves capable of handling situations that would otherwise be intimidating.

As a construct, self-efficacy provides insight into the significance of examining school counselors' beliefs in their own capabilities and how stronger, perceived self-efficacy can positively impact counselor performance and motivation to address challenging issues (Bandura, 1995; Bodenhorn & Skaggs, 2005; Larson & Daniels, 1998). Consistent with Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory; Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) argued that school counselors who do not possess multicultural competence and a belief in their capabilities to perform tasks relative to ethnically diverse students may neglect to see the importance of such tasks, and may even avoid these tasks altogether.

Evans and colleagues (2011) noted that many counselors enter the profession ill equipped to respond to the underlying needs of culturally diverse students and families. As a result, school counselors may perceive themselves as less efficacious in regards to addressing tasks relative to diverse populations, which may contribute to avoidance of these multicultural tasks all together (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008). School counselors with stronger self-efficacy may possess more motivation and commitment to address multicultural issues and successfully persist through challenges that may arise as a result of attempting to advocate for racially and culturally diverse students.

Researchers have noted the resistance and challenges school counselors face when they attempt to advocate for the needs of culturally diverse students in schools (Arredondo, 2008; Bemak & Chung, 2008; Evans et.al, 2011). Perceived self-efficacy affects people's choice of activities, how much effort they expend, and how long they will persist in the face of obstacles and aversive experiences (Bandura, 1977). Given the professional mandates for school counselor leadership to address complex issues of diversity, it seems imperative to examine school counselors' capacities to persist through these various challenges that they might encounter by examining school counselors' self-efficacy beliefs in their multicultural capabilities and the relationship between these beliefs and their leadership practices.

Counselor self-efficacy. Counselor self-efficacy refers to counselors' beliefs or judgments about their capability to perform specific counseling related behaviors and activities (Larson et al., 1999; Lent et.al., 2006). A considerable amount of research has examined the importance of counselor self-efficacy in relation to counseling variables

such as counselor performance, counselor anxiety, and the supervision environment (Daniels & Larson, 2001; Larson & Daniels, 1998; Leach, et al., 1997). Studies have found that counseling self-efficacy is positively related to counselor training level and supervision, counselor self-concept, counselor development, and expectations of counseling outcomes (Leach et al., 1997).

Sutton and Fall (1995) were the first to examine the role of self-efficacy in explaining the effectiveness of school counselors. The study's sample included 316 public school counselors. Results from the study found that school counselor self-efficacy was influenced by school climate factors, with staff support and administrative support contributing significant variance to self-efficacy (Sutton & Fall, 1995). Scarborough and Culbreth's (2008) study further confirmed these findings with administrative support also accounting for significant variance in self-efficacy. These findings indicated that external support can potentially account for variance in school counselors' self-efficacy. Despite the important insight gained from these studies regarding external factors that might impact school counselors' self-efficacy, these studies failed to address multicultural factors that might also impact school counselors' self-efficacy beliefs, which is particularly important given the growing diversity in U.S. schools and persistent achievement gaps between racial groups.

Bodenhorn and Skaggs (2005) developed the first self-efficacy measure specific to school counseling. The School Counselor Self-Efficacy scale (SCSE) included five factors or subscales: Personal and Social Development, Leadership and Assessment, Career and Academic Development, Collaboration, and Cultural Acceptance. Utilizing a

sample of 222 school counselors; Bodenhorn and Skaggs (2005) found that counselors with 3 or more years of experience reported significantly higher self-efficacy. This finding has been supported by additional studies that have found a significant, positive relationship between school counselors' years of experience and self-efficacy (Ernst; 2012; Gordillo, 2015; Owens, Bodenhorn, & Bryant, 2010). Although it is understandable that novice school counselors may perceive themselves as less efficacious than more experienced school counselors, the reality is that the nation's student population is growing increasingly diverse. As achievement gaps persist, all school counselors, regardless of experience level, must possess the self-efficacy to confront the various complex challenges that exist in today's education system.

Bodenhorn, Wolfe, and Airen (2010) conducted a national study examining school counselors' perceptions of the status of the achievement gap and equity in their schools and (utilizing the SCSE) found that school counselors with higher self-efficacy were more likely to be aware of academic achievement gap data and narrow achievement gaps in their schools. The authors concluded that higher levels of self-efficacy might have a larger effect on school counselors' capacities to increase equity in schools. Thus, self-efficacy as a construct seems important to examine in relation to the capacity of school counselors to address multicultural and social justice issues in schools (Bodenhorn, Wolfe, & Airen, 2010).

School Counselor Multicultural Self-Efficacy

Multicultural self-efficacy is a relatively new construct that has appeared in the counseling literature. Distinct from general self-efficacy; Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008)

defined multicultural self-efficacy as professional counselors' perceived abilities (i.e., beliefs) to carry out and perform tasks that are relevant and specific to equity among students in K-12 schools, and the ethnically and culturally diverse needs of K-12 students.

According to Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008), professional school counselors with higher levels of multicultural self-efficacy are more likely to believe that they have the capacity to understand multicultural and diversity concepts, are more likely to identify student inequities, are more likely to challenge barriers to academic achievement, and are more likely to be satisfied with their work with culturally diverse students and families. Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) operationalization of multicultural self-efficacy suggests a potential relationship between this construct and school counselors' leadership practices. That is, counselors with higher levels of multicultural self-efficacy might be more likely to employ the leadership practices needed to challenge inequitable policies and practices within schools.

The first (and only existing) measure of school counselor multicultural self-efficacy was developed by Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008). The School Counseling Multicultural Self Efficacy Scale (SCMES) was developed for the purpose of assessing school counselors perceived capabilities to perform tasks in schools that are related to increasing minority student achievement, increasing parental involvement of minority parents, and advocating for students from culturally and racially diverse backgrounds (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008). Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) argued that although the School Counselor Self- Efficacy Scale (SCSE: 2005) included some multicultural

considerations, it did not sufficiently cover multicultural and equity issues relevant to professional school counselors' work in schools.

The SCMES is a 52 item scale that measures school counselor multicultural selfefficacy across six dimensions: (factor 1) knowledge of multicultural counseling concepts, 14 items that assess professional school counselors' perceived abilities to discuss multicultural concepts such as the influence of racism on counseling; (factor 2) using data and understanding systemic change, 9 items that assess school counselors' perceived abilities to address equity and utilize data as an advocacy and equity tool; (factor 3) developing cross-cultural relationships, 7 items that assess school counselors' perceived abilities to develop relationships with culturally diverse people; (factor 4) multicultural counseling awareness, 9 items that assess school counselors' perceived multicultural self-awareness which includes understanding how one's culture may affect interactions and interventions with students; (factor 5) multicultural assessment, 7 items that assess school counselors perceived abilities to identify culturally appropriate and fair testing practices in schools and identify discriminatory policies and practices that impact culturally diverse students; and (factor 6) application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice, 6 items that assess school counselors' perceived capability to integrate and apply awareness of racial and cultural concepts (i.e., racism and discrimination) into actual practice (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008).

Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) conducted an initial study, with 181 participants from the American School Counseling Association (ASCA), to test the reliability of the SCMES and to examine the perceived multicultural self-efficacy of professional school

counselors. The results of the study provided initial support for the validity and internal consistency of the SCMES (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008). Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) found that school counselors reported lower levels of self-efficacy on the SCMES subscale, factor 2 (using data and understanding systemic change), compared to the other sub-scales. These findings suggested that school counselors are lacking in their confidence in using data to uncover student inequities and advocate for systemic change in schools.

Based on Bandura's (1977) self-efficacy theory, people tend to avoid tasks where they have lower personal efficacy expectations; thus, school counselors' lower self-efficacy in using data to advocate for students might contribute to them not engaging in this critical work. Considering that school counselors have been called to be leaders that use data to advocate for equitable programs and services for students (ASCA, 2012), the results of the Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) study highlighted the importance of additional research related to school counselors' efficacy in this area.

Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) initial study with the SCMES also found that ethnicity and years of experience were the only demographic variables that were significantly related to school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy. Ethnic minority school counselors reported higher levels of multicultural self-efficacy than White American counselors on five of the SCMES factors: knowledge of multicultural concepts, using data and understanding systemic change, multicultural counseling awareness, multicultural assessment, and application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice (Holcomb-McCoy, et al, 2008). The findings from Holcomb-McCoy and colleagues

(2008) suggested that novice, White school counselors have distinct multicultural training needs related to multicultural awareness and the application of multicultural skills (such as utilizing data for advocacy) that subsequently might impact their capacities to employ effective leadership practices.

School counselor multicultural competence has been discussed in the literature (Holcomb-McCoy, 2001, 2004, 2005, 2007; Holcomb & Chen-Hayes, 2011), yet there has been limited additional research on multicultural self-efficacy, despite its ability to assist in the understanding of counselor's motivation to perform tasks related to promoting equity in schools. With respect to the limited research in this area, Crook (2010) utilized the SCMES measure on a sample of 173 school counselors and found significant differences among the demographic variables of race/ethnicity and years of experience. Consistent with findings of Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008), the study found that, compared to White counselors, racial/ethnic minority counselors rated themselves significantly higher on the following SCMES factors: using data, understanding systemic change; developing cultural relationships; multicultural counseling awareness; and application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice (Crook, 2010).

Also consistent with the findings of Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008), Crook (2010) found that school counselors with 11-14 and 15-19 years of experience reported being more confident about their abilities to perform tasks and activities associated with multicultural school counseling compared to school counselors with less than 1 year, 1-3 years, and 4-7 years of experience. These studies (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al.,

2008) suggest that the demographic variables of race/ethnicity and years of experience might be significantly related to school counselors' levels of multicultural self-efficacy.

Building upon this research, Na (2012) surveyed a national sample of 381 school counselors exploring the relationship between school counselor multicultural counseling competence and self-efficacy in working with recent immigrant students. Results found that training experiences in a graduate program, years of experience as a school counselor, age, race/ethnicity, and school urbanicity all influenced a school counselor's self-efficacy. The findings related to years of experience and race/ethnicity were consistent with Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) and Crook (2010) such that racial/ethnic minority school counselors with more years of experience reported being more confident about their abilities to perform tasks and activities associated with multicultural school counseling.

With a very limited amount of studies on school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy, there is still much to be done regarding how professional school counselors perceive their abilities to intervene effectively with culturally diverse clients and to perform tasks that promote equity in schools (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008). Despite the limited research in this area, current school counselor multicultural self-efficacy literature suggests that (a) counselors with more years of experience report higher levels of multicultural self-efficacy (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008); (b) counselors report a lower degree of self-efficacy on the SCMES subscale, using data and understanding systemic change, compared to the other sub-scales (Crook, 2010; Durden, 2011; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008; Na, 2012); and (c) racial/ethnic minority counselors

report higher levels of multicultural self-efficacy than White American counselors (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008; Na, 2012).

Taken together, these studies suggest that additional research is needed regarding factors that can assist school counselors to develop the multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices needed to promote equity in schools. The fact that racial/ethnic minority counselors have been found to report higher levels of multicultural self-efficacy than White school counselors warrants additional examination given that, despite the fact that the student population in the U.S. is growing increasingly diverse, over 70 percent of counselors remain White (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2014).

To explain the discrepancy in self-reported multicultural self-efficacy, Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) described how ethnic minority school counselors may have life experiences that contribute to more heightened sensitivity, awareness, and willingness to address issues related to cultural and racial differences. However, additional research is needed to explore this further to enhance future counselor education and training, particularly as it relates to leadership development.

Transformational Leadership

Leadership is difficult to define and often does not have clearly identified outcomes (Northouse, 2004). As a concept, leadership is complex, and the large number of proposed leadership models and the vast literature base indicate a history of researchers and professionals struggling to define leadership (e.g., Kouzes & Posner, 2003; Northouse, 2004). One prevalent theory of leadership that applies to the emerging

role of school counselors is that of transformational leadership (Burns, 1978; Northouse, 2004).

Transformational leadership theory, first introduced by James Burns (1978), assumes that people who exhibit particular leadership behaviors can inspire others to higher levels of performance, dedication, motivation, and morality. Transformational leadership promotes the ability of leaders to challenge the status quo, inspiring others to think beyond their usual scope (Burns, 1978). Transformational leaders motivate followers to perform beyond expectations by transforming followers' values, attitudes, and beliefs (Burns, 1978).

According to Balyer (2012), transformational leadership behaviors involves the capacity to energize and motivate their followers, serve as an example for others, create relationships to acquire trust, and stimulate and challenge others. Transformational leaders are recognized as change agents who are good role models, who can create and articulate a clear vision for an organization, who empower followers to achieve a higher standard, who act in ways that make others want to trust them, and who give meaning to organizational life (Northouse, 2004).

In education, transformational leadership has been recognized as one the most effective leadership styles (Adams & Hambright, 2005; Bass & Avolio, 1990; Burns, 1978). Transformative leadership practices in schools focus on generating systemic changes that result in success for all students, through the development of solid stakeholder relationships and socially just beliefs and practices (Young & Bryan, 2015; Shield, 2012). Transformational school leaders have the capacity to develop a shared

vision and shared commitment to school change through helping staff members develop and maintain a collaborative professional school culture and solve problems together more effectively (Leithwood, 1992).

Transformational leadership emphasizes shared leadership within an organization and the ability to generate significant influence through collaborative partnerships, without utilizing a "top-down" approach (Hallinger 2003). Transformational leadership promotes school counselors as visionaries who engage with others in a constant practice of change and development (Mason & McMahon, 2009). The philosophical underpinnings of transformational leadership include holistic and systems thinking (Dollarhide & Gibson, 2008) which are congruent with the evolving role of school counselors as visionaries, educational leaders, and change agents (ASCA, 2012).

Counseling literature asserts that when professional school counselors develop and maintain a school counseling program based on leadership, they are able to empower all stakeholders to challenge unjust institutional and systemic practices that deny the best career and college readiness opportunities to all students (ASCA, 2012; Chen-Hayes & Getch, 2015). The theory of transformational leadership provides a useful theoretical lens to better understand the capacities of school counselors to implement leadership practices that effectively inspire and engage stakeholders to create the systemic change needed to confront inequities in schools.

School Counselor Leadership

Within the limited body of school counselor leadership research, the most commonly used measure of leadership is The Leadership Practices Inventory, Self-

Instrument (Kouzes & Posner, 2013) which is based on the theory of transformational leadership. The Leadership Practices Inventory, Self-Instrument (LPI) consists of 30 items that measure the following five leadership practices: Model the Way (MTW), Inspire a Shared Vision (ISV), Challenge the Process (CTP), Enable Others to Act (EOA), and Encourage the Heart (ETH). The five leadership practices that the LPI measures stems from questionnaires that Kouzes and Posner have given to tens of thousands of individuals asking which leadership characteristics or qualities "they look for or admire in a leader, someone whose direction they would willingly follow (Kouzes & Posner, 2002, 2012)."

Kouzes and Posner's research (2002, 2012) found that exemplary leaders model the way by finding their voice and by setting an example (they do what they say they will do); they inspire a vision by envisioning the future and enlisting others in a common vision; they challenge the process by searching for opportunities and by experimenting, taking risks, and learning from mistakes; they enable others to act by fostering collaboration and strengthening others; and they encourage the heart by recognizing contributions and celebrating values and victories. The LPI has been used with a variety of populations with regard to age, gender, ethnicity, education level, work setting, and it has been used in more than 250 doctoral dissertations and theses, including many that investigate the leadership practices of teachers and administrators (Kouzes & Posner, 2008).

Mason and McMahon (2009) utilized the LPI to conduct a statewide study of 305 professional school counselors' leadership practices. A demographic survey asked

participants about their personal demographics (i.e., age, gender, and ethnicity), their education and training experiences in school counseling, the school setting in which they worked, and their years of experience in school counseling. Results from Mason and McMahon (2009) study indicated the highest mean scores for school counselors across the enabling, encouraging, and modeling subscales and the lowest mean score for the "challenging the process" subscale. Also, in general, results indicated that older school counselors with more experience, and longer terms in schools, self-reported higher on leadership practices than younger, less experienced peers. The most consistent relationships with leadership were those of age and tenure at current school, as they occurred across all five leadership subscales (Mason & McMahon, 2009). The authors concluded that veteran school counselors may have more work-related self-efficacy which may lead to a stronger leadership identity.

Shillingford and Lambie (2010) also utilized the LPI to investigate the contributions of school counselors' values and leadership practices to their programmatic service delivery. The study's findings indicated that the majority of school counseling participants who participated in the study valued self-transcendence (adhering to the status quo) which may be inconsistent with the values necessary to contribute to programmatic service delivery (such as risk-taking). Further building on this point; the study's findings were consistent with the findings reported by Mason and McMahon (2009) and Sebera (2005) in that the highest mean scores for school counselors were reported for enabling, encouraging, and modeling and the lowest mean scores were reported for inspiring and challenging. These findings suggested that the majority of

school counselors may be collaborators, doers, and motivators and less so risk-takers and visionaries (Shillingford & Lambie, 2010).

The "challenging the process" subscale of the LPI measures individual's ability to make systemic changes and set appropriate goals (Kouzes & Posner, 2002). It is concerning that within the limited body of school counseling leadership literature, the leadership practice of "challenging the process" is reported least by school counselors (Mason & McMahon, 2009; Sebera, 2005; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010). This is also particularly concerning given professional mandates from the school counseling profession that call for school counselors to be change agents that challenge systemic inequities in schools (ASCA, 2003, 2005, 2012). Challenging a process entails risk taking (Kouzes & Posner, 2003) and in the diverse contexts of today's schools, this also must involve school counselors having the self-efficacy expectations to initiate challenging tasks that disrupt systemic barriers that disproportionately impact racial/ethnic minority students.

Dollarhide, Gibson, and Sanjak (2008) conducted a qualitative study observing the leadership successes and failures of new counselors. Successful leaders had a clear sense of responsibility for bringing about improvements in whatever challenges they faced. In addition, the successful leaders maintained their sense of responsibility and exhibited courage in the face of doubts from a variety of other sources (e.g., other counselors, teachers, or others in the school/district, or themselves). On the contrast, unsuccessful leaders were stalled by a lack of control over the necessary conditions for

change. All study participants experienced resistance to their ideas; however, the successful leaders pushed through the negative reactions to achieve success.

Similarly, in an autophenomenography Wines (2013) described her successes and challenges in multicultural leadership as an African, American school counselor. The author describes how she encountered inner-departmental resistance from other counselors and from the paraprofessional staff that came in the forms of passive aggressive behaviors, refusal to honor requests, and blatant disrespect. Wines (2013) described how she experienced success as a leader by remaining cognizant of her purpose and remaining focused on her to desire to effect change. Qualitative studies such as Wines (2013) highlight that the capacity to lead in schools requires the courage to challenge the status quo (Singleton & Linton, 2006; Young & Bryan, 2015).

Consistent with Bandura's self-efficacy theory (1977), the participants in Dollarhide, Gibson, and Sanjak (2008) and Wines (2013) study that persisted through barriers to their leadership efforts described a sense of responsibility and beliefs in their ability to achieve success. These studies suggest the importance of school counselors having the self-efficacy to persist through challenges to their leadership efforts. Several studies have noted that a large number of school counselors may not be serving as leaders in schools due to various internal and external challenges (Amatea & West-Olatunji, 2007; Janson et.al, 2009; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010). Additional research to support school counselors having the self-efficacy to overcome such challenges is needed.

In another study capturing school counselors' perceptions; Young, Dollarhide, and Baughman (2015), examined school counselors' beliefs about essential school

counselor leadership characteristics. The researchers surveyed 1,316 school counselors from the ASCA database and found the top theme was "leadership attributes" from which top responses were "flexibility, adaptable (N = 136)," "confidence, strength (N = 117)," and "creative, problem solver (N = 79)." These findings suggested that school counselors perceived having certain leadership attributes (i.e., flexibility, confidence, and creativity) as being to the most essential to effective leadership.

Interestingly, one of the lowest themes found in Young, Dollarhide, and Baughman's (2015) study was related to advocacy, where only 7% of the school counselors' responses, regarding essential school counselor leadership characteristics, included references to advocacy or diversity issues. Despite the national call for school counselor leadership that is centered on advocacy for culturally diverse students, these study's findings highlight a potential disconnect between school counselors' perceptions of effective leadership and the importance of school counselor leadership (centered on multiculturalism and advocacy) that has been articulated by researchers in the school counseling profession (Chung, Bemak, & Grabosky, 2011; Evans et al., 2011).

Young, Dollarhide, and Baughman's (2015) findings raise questions regarding how leadership is being addressed within counselor education programs and whether the importance of multiculturalism is being embedded within leadership development and training. While there is some evidence that multicultural training is being required and infused in counselor education, the same does not hold true for counselor academic preparation addressing advocacy and leadership (Evans et al., 2011). Without adequate training for school counselors in advocacy and multicultural leadership skills, novice

counselors will enter the profession ill equipped to respond to the needs of culturally different students and their families (Evans et al., 2011).

A review of the limited body of school counseling research highlights that additional research is needed to inform counselor education and enhance the training of practicing school counselors. Traditional leadership practices (i.e., relationship oriented behaviors; enabling and encouraging others) are reported most frequently used by school counselors, while nontraditional school counseling leadership practices (i.e., visualizing program initiatives, challenging, advocating, instigating change) that have been identified by ASCA (2003; 2005; 2012) to effectively advocate for the needs of culturally diverse student populations are reported least used by school counselors (Mason & McMahon, 2009; Sebera, 2005; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010).

The focus of the majority of the existing studies in school counseling leadership literature have explored the relationship of school counselor leadership and demographic factors such as age, gender, school counseling experience, school setting, professional training (Mason & McMahon, 2009; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010). Although these studies have been essential to developing a body of school counseling leadership literature, researchers in the school counseling field have emphasized the need for additional research (Dollarhide, 2003; Dollarhide et.al., 2008; Janson, 2009; Janson et.al., 2008; Mason & McMahon, 2009; Schillingford & Lambie, 2010).

As noted by Connerley and Pederson (2005), characteristics of leadership in monocultural environments are not sufficient for leadership in multicultural environments. The changing demographics in this country make it imperative that school

counselors become multicultural leaders and change agents (Evans et al., 2011). Research to identify multicultural factors that can support school counselors in engaging in effective leadership practices in schools is needed.

School counselors as multicultural leaders. The role of school counselors should encompass leadership that advocates for equity and justice for all students (ASCA, 2009; Bemak & Chung, 2005; Lee, 2011). As noted by Evans et al. (2011), it is essential that multicultural advocacy is a natural byproduct of who school counselors are as leaders within the profession.

Effective school counselor leaders have been described as culturally responsive change agents that can (a) serve as a cultural bridge between teachers and students and block the blaming that often derails efforts work with culturally diverse students and their families; (b) function as a pedagogical partner with teachers by connecting the curriculum more directly to students' lives; (c) team with teachers, administrators, and community stakeholders to create a more welcoming school climate for families of diverse cultures; and (d) help school staff become more aware of differences in class privilege and sociopolitical power experienced by culturally diverse students (Amatea & West-Olatunji, 2007). All of these leadership tasks entail a certain degree of multicultural knowledge, awareness, and skills.

The ASCA national model (2012) emphasizes that, as educational leaders, school counselors must attend to their own cultural proficiency and acknowledge how prejudice, power, and various forms of oppression impacts students. Further, Sue and Sue (1990) identified three behaviors that counselors working towards multicultural leadership

should exhibit: (a) they should become aware of their own values, biases, and assumptions about culturally different individuals; (b) they should actively work to understand the worldview of culturally different individuals; and (c) they should work to develop culturally appropriate counseling skills, strategies, and practices.

Chung, Bemak, and Grabosky (2011) conveyed multicultural social justice leadership strategies in working with immigrant populations and noted the importance of counselors being aware of the multicultural issues impacting clients (e.g., racism, intolerance, and xenophobia) and, more importantly, having awareness of their own biases that might influence their perceptions and interactions with diverse populations. As noted by Chung and colleagues (2011), counselors may unconsciously internalize negative messages about diverse populations and hence buy into xenophobia and intolerance that subsequently impedes their work with clients.

In order for school counselors to lead efforts in schools to advocate for racial/ethnic minority students, it is critical for school counselors to (first) examine their own values, biases, and assumptions about ethnically and culturally different students. School counselors are in a unique position to serve as multicultural leaders that can effect social change by challenging the institutions that have created and maintained the injustices that impact students (Adelman & Taylor, 2002; Arredondo, 2008; Cox & Lee, 2007). However, literature suggests that school counselors must (first) be equipped with the appropriate multicultural knowledge, awareness, and skills (Chung & Bemak, 2011; Evans et.al. 2011; Sue & Sue, 1990). As aforementioned, unfortunately, research

providing additional insight on multicultural factors that might impact school counselors' leadership practices is relatively non-existent.

Multicultural Leadership

The lack of attention to multiculturalism that is evident in school counseling leadership research is also reflected within the field of educational leadership.

Educational leadership as a field and discipline has been slow to respond to the realities of increased racial, ethnic, cultural, and linguistic diversity and their implications at various levels of education (Santamaría & Santamaría, 2015). According to Brooks and Miles (2010), the educational leadership literature has not yet explored in deep and critical ways how sociocultural differences at the individual and group levels inform leadership dispositions and behaviors and how failure to acknowledge such differences problematizes the knowledge base on which we study issues of culture in educational leadership.

In the field of education, there has a growing body of research in multicultural education (e.g., Banks, 1993; Grant & Sleeter, 1996), culturally relevant pedagogy (e.g., Ladson-Billings, 1992, 1995, 1998), culturally responsive instruction (e.g., Gay, 2002), and antiracist pedagogy (e.g., Lawrence & Tatum, 1997; Lee, 1998, 2006). However, these multicultural considerations are understudied in the field of educational leadership (Brooks, 2008; Horsford, 2010; Jean-Marie, Normore, & Brooks, 2009; Normore, 2008; Santamaría & Santamaría, 2013).

However, there is a growing body of research that suggests that culturally responsive educational leadership positively influences academic achievement and

students' engagement with the school environment (Banks & McGee-Banks, 2004; Klingner et al., 2005; Ladson-Billings, 1995; Riehl, 2000; Skrla, Scheurich, Garcia, & Nolly, 2006). Literature supports that culturally responsive leaders challenge the status quo and enforce high expectations for all students (Murrell, 2007; Touchton & Acker-Hocevar, 2001). Further, culturally responsive leaders have the courage to address multicultural issues related to race, class, social status, privilege, and equity which subsequently impacts student achievement (López, Magdaleno, & Reis, 2006).

Bustamante, Nelson, and Onwuegbuzie (2009) noted that school leaders often struggle with how to identify and promote inclusive practices in schools, particularly when underlying norms and assumptions that reinforce inequitable practices often are deeply embedded in a school's culture and are reinforced by societal expectations and power differences. Johnson (2007) argued that culturally responsive leaders must be equipped to challenge the status quo of inequitable assessment practices, incorporate students' cultural knowledge into the school curriculum, and work with parents and community activists for social change in the larger community.

In a qualitative study, Theoharis (2007) found that social justice oriented principals utilized a variety of strategies to build staff capacity to address the needs of marginalized students through having open and candid discussions with school staff about White privilege and issues of race, providing on-going staff development focused on building equity, and developing staff investment in social justice. The findings from this study supports the notion that the foundation for educational leaders advancing equity in schools is self-awareness to multicultural issues, such that leaders can model for

other stakeholders the importance of understanding and acknowledging racial biases that impede work with culturally diverse students.

It may be difficult to challenge the status quo and advocate for positions that are socially or politically unpopular, but researchers assert that these acts of leadership and advocacy are needed to close achievement gaps (White-Hood, 2007). Researchers argue that culturally responsive leadership in a high accountability context requires school leaders who can confront the underlying and systemic issues that perpetuate achievement gaps (Lindsey et al., 2013; Noguera, 2001). These type of actions take a great deal of personal strength and courage and school counselors must have the self-efficacy to engage in this critical leadership work and persist through the challenges that may inherently arise from challenging the status quo. Research is needed that can provide insight on how to better support school counselors in persisting through challenges such that they can effectively engage in leadership practices responsive to the multicultural needs of today's schools.

Summary

As previously stated; given the growing diversity in U.S. schools, demographic divides between students and school-based staff, achievement gaps, and other racial disparities: additional research is needed to understand school counselors' leadership practices in relation to their multicultural capabilities. A review of existing literature suggests that examining the relationship among school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices could generate significant insight regarding school counselors' capacities to provide effective leadership for the diverse contexts of today's

schools (Chung & Bemak, 2011; Evans et al., 2011; Santamaria & Santamaria, 2015; Sue & Sue, 1992).

Multicultural self-efficacy was found to be significantly related to school counselors' capacities to address achievement gaps in schools (Bodenhorn, Wolfe, & Airen, 2010), which is a key aspect of school counselor leadership. Although there has not been a study to date that has examined the relationship among school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices; existing literature suggests the importance of school counselors acquiring the necessary multicultural knowledge and skills to serve as effective leaders (Gerstl-Pepin & Aiken, 2012; McMahon et al., 2010; Sirin, Rogers-Sirin, & Collins, 2010).

A review of research also further situated the importance of this study. For instance; multicultural self-efficacy studies have found that counselors report a lower degree of self-efficacy in leadership and assessment than any other dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008; Na, 2012). Similarly; in school counseling leadership literature, the leadership practice related to challenging the status quo was reported least by school counselors (Mason & McMahon, 2009; Sebera, 2005; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010). These studies highlight the need for additional research to determine factors that might support counselors in utilizing the leadership skills needed to challenge systemic inequities that disproportionately impact ethnically and culturally diverse students.

Examining school counselors' beliefs in their multicultural capabilities may provide insight into factors impacting school counselors' leadership practices that have

not previously been examined. Thus, this study will serve as a significant contribution to the school counseling literature base. In the next chapter, details on the methodology utilized for this study will be provided including details regarding the research questions, research design, participants, measures, procedures, and analysis.

Chapter Three

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship among dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy and school counselors' leadership practices in an effort to understand multicultural factors that might promote or impede school counselors' capacities to serve as leaders within schools. This chapter details the methodology that was utilized to conduct this study and addresses the following: (a) research questions, (b) research design, (c) participants, (d) measures, (e) procedures, and (f) data analysis.

Research Questions

- 1) What is the relationship among dimensions of school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy (i.e., knowledge of multicultural concepts, using data and understanding systemic change, developing cross-cultural relationships, multicultural counseling awareness, multicultural assessment, and application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice) and school counselors' leadership practices?
 - Null hypothesis: there will be no statistically significant relationship among dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy and school counselors' leadership practices
 - Alternative hypotheses: there will be a statistically significant relationship among dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy and school counselors' leadership practices

- 2) Does school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy predict school counselors' leadership practices?
 - Null hypothesis: school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy will not predict school counselors' leadership practices
 - Alternative hypotheses: school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy will predict school counselors' leadership practices

Research Design

In this quantitative research study, a correlational research design was utilized. Correlational research attempts to determine the relationship between sets of data collected from a group of study participants (Tuckman, 1999). It is important to note that correlation between two constructs does not prove causality; however, correlational research is still useful in determining the existence of relationships between variables and suggesting possible causal links that can be further explored through additional analysis and future studies (Tuckman, 1999). Since this study attempted to determine the relationship among school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices; a correlational research design was appropriate. The strength in utilizing a correlational research design is that it allows researchers to identify and understand the relationship between multiple variables and how they may influence behaviors, attitudes, or perceptions (Tuckman, 1999).

Data was collected from participants at one point of time (between January and February 2016) utilizing an online survey consisting of instruments designed to measure school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy, leadership practices, and demographic

characteristics. Prior to initiating this study, the institutional review board at George Mason University approved this study (see Appendix A) and approval was obtained for all of the instruments included in this study, from each instrument's author.

Participants

The participants targeted for this study were professional school counselors from across the United States. Only practicing K-12th grade professional school counselors were eligible to participate in this study. Counselors-in-training were purposively excluded given that the primary purpose of this study centered on examining the multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices of practicing school counselors. The researcher utilized a simple, random sampling method to recruit participants from the American School Counselor Association (ASCA) online membership directory. The minimum sample size needed for this study was estimated to be 85. This estimate was based on a power analysis conducted by the researcher.

When using a power analysis to calculate sample size, the researcher must consider three things: the level of statistical significance (p = .05 or p = .01), amount of power desired (typically set at .80), and the effect size (Creswell, 2002). For this study, the researcher calculated the minimum sample size needed based on a power analysis that included a probability level of .05, a statistical power of .80, and a medium effect size of .15 (Soper, 2014). In order to obtain the desired number of responses, participants were offered a \$5 gift card (for Amazon.com or Starbucks) for participation in the study.

A total of 230 surveys were electronically completed. Twelve surveys were not completed in entirety and were omitted from data analysis. Mean substitution could have

been used to replace missing data; however, Osborne (2012) recommends that researchers do not utilize mean substitution but rather are transparent and report all instances of missing data. The data was also prescreened for outliers in SPSS utilizing an inspection of histograms, boxplots, and descriptive statistics for the survey measures. As noted by Liu, Wu, and Zumbo (2010); outliers can significantly impact Cronbach's coefficient alpha particularly in studies utilizing Likert item responses. For this study, six cases were identified as outliers and were omitted from data analysis. Overall, the prescreening of data for outliers and incomplete information resulted in 212 usable surveys.

Measures

The data for this study were collected using three self-reporting measures. All participants completed the following: (1) a sociodemographic questionnaire, (2) the Leadership Practices Inventory, Self-Form (LPI; Kouzes & Posner, 2013), and (3) the School Counseling Multicultural Efficacy Scale (SCMES; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008). The purpose, structure, and psychometric properties of these measures are explained in greater detail in the next section.

Sociodemographic questionnaire: The sociodemographic questionnaire, created by the researcher, consisted of 7-items (see Appendix D) to gather information regarding participants' demographic characteristics such as sex, age, race/ethnicity, years of experience as a professional school counselor, tenure at current school, current school level (primary/elementary, middle/ junior high, high school, alternative school, and other), and school urbanicity (urban, suburban, or rural). Response categories for age

ranged from 1 ("20-30") to 5 ("61 or over"). Response categories for years of experience and tenure at current school ranged from 1 ("1-6 years") to 6 ("over 19 years").

School Counseling Multicultural Efficacy Scale (SCMES) (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008): The School Counseling Multicultural Efficacy Scale (SCMES) was utilized in this study to measure school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy (see Appendix F). The purpose of the SCMES is to assess professional counselors' perceived abilities to perform tasks related to multicultural school counseling and advocacy for students from culturally and racially diverse backgrounds (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008).

The SCMES is a 52 item scale that measures school counselor multicultural self-efficacy across six dimensions: (1) knowledge of multicultural concepts, 14 items that assess professional school counselors' perceived abilities to discuss multicultural concepts such as the influence of racism on counseling; (2) using data and understanding systemic change, 9 items that assess school counselors' perceived abilities to address equity and utilize data as an advocacy and equity tool; (3) developing cross-cultural relationships, 7 items that assess school counselors' perceived abilities to develop relationships with culturally diverse people; (4) multicultural counseling awareness, 9 items that assess school counselors' perceived multicultural self-awareness which includes understanding how one's culture may affect interactions and interventions with students; (5) multicultural assessment, 7 items that assess school counselors perceived abilities to identify culturally appropriate and fair testing practices in schools and identify discriminatory policies and practices that impact culturally diverse students; and (6) application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice, 6 items that assess school

counselors' perceived capability to integrate and apply awareness of racial concepts (i.e., racism and discrimination) into actual practice (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008).

Participants are asked to rate the degree to which the items in the SCMES describe their perceived self-efficacy in working with students of diverse cultures using a 7-point Likert-type scale from 1(not well at all) to 7 (very well). In this study; consistent with previous researchers (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008), scores for each SCMES subscale were obtained by summing the scale items and then dividing by the number of items on each scale. Higher scores on each SCMES subscale indicated greater self- efficacy in that particular dimension of multicultural self-efficacy (i.e., multicultural knowledge, using data, developing cross-cultural relationships, multicultural awareness, multicultural assessment, and application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice). Given the lack of research on multicultural variables that might impact school counselors' leadership practice, the SCMES measure was selected as a viable instrument for this study.

Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) conducted an initial study, with 181 participants from ASCA, to test the reliability of the SCMES and to examine the perceived multicultural self-efficacy of professional school counselors. The results of the study provided initial support for the validity and internal consistency of the SCMES (Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008). The 52 items of the SCMES revealed a coefficient alpha of .93 and the following alphas for each of the six factors: .95 for the first, .91 for the second, .89 for the third, .93 for the fourth, .89 for the fifth, and .88 for the sixth. In addition, all of the factors correlated significantly and highly with one another from .50 to

.84. However, Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) reported several limitations of the SCMES, which included a relatively small participants-to-item ratio in the exploratory factor analysis and the need for the dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy to be further defined which includes "fine tuning" the language of the subscale items.

Despite its limitations, the SCMES remains the only measure of school counselor multicultural self-efficacy. Given that the SCMES has been previously used in other research studies (e.g., Crook, 2010; Na, 2012) to examine the multicultural self-efficacy construct where significant findings were reported; the SCMES was selected as an appropriate measure of multicultural self-efficacy for this study.

Leadership Practices Inventory, Self-Form (LPI). The Leadership Practices Inventory, Self-Form (LPI) was utilized in this study to measure school counselors' leadership practices (see Appendix E). The LPI has been field tested and proven reliable in identifying behaviors that make a difference in leaders' effectiveness (Kouzes & Posner, 2002). Further, the LPI has been used with a variety of populations with regard to age, gender, ethnicity, education level, work setting, and it has been used in more than 250 doctoral dissertations and theses, including many that investigate the leadership practices of professionals within the field of education, such as teachers and administrators (Kouzes & Posner, 2008).

The LPI consists of 30 items that measures the following five exemplary practices of leadership articulated by Kouzes and Posner (2002): model the way (MTW), inspire a shared vision (ISV), challenge the process (CTP), enable others to act (EOA), and encourage the heart (ETH). The five leadership practices that the LPI measures stems

from questionnaires that Kouzes and Posner have given to tens of thousands of individuals asking which leadership characteristics or qualities "they look for or admire in a leader, someone whose direction they would willingly follow (Kouzes & Posner, 2002; 2012)."

Kouzes and Posner's research (2002, 2012) found that exemplary leaders model the way by finding their voice and by setting an example (they do what they say they will do); they inspire a vision by envisioning the future and enlisting others in a common vision; they challenge the process by searching for opportunities and by experimenting, taking risks, and learning from mistakes; they enable others to act by fostering collaboration and strengthening others; and they encourage the heart by recognizing contributions and celebrating values and victories.

The 30 items on the LPI asks participants to consider how often they engage in specific leadership behaviors being described using a 10-point Likert-type scale from 1(never) to 10 (almost always). The measure has six questions for each of the five practices it measures. A score for each of the five practices is calculated by simply adding the scores together for each of the six questions. A higher value on each subscale represented more frequent use of that specific leadership practice. The LPI total score was also utilized in this study to provide a general measure of school counselors' engagement in leadership practices. Consistent with previous researchers (Ferrara, 2008; Wyse, 2014), the LPI total score was calculated by averaging the responses to all 30 questions into a single score.

Researchers have confirmed that the leadership characteristics measured by the LPI are related to transformational leadership (Carless; 2001; Fields & Herold, 1997; Kouzes & Posner, 2002, 2011; Lummus, 2010). Scholars within the counseling field have asserted that transformational leadership is applicable to the manner in which school counselors serve as leaders within schools, given that school counselors typically serve as leaders outside of traditional leadership roles (Dollarhide & Gibson, 2008; Mason & McMahon, 2009). Further, scholars have asserted that the philosophical underpinnings of transformational leadership include holistic and systems thinking which are congruent with the evolving role of school counselors as visionaries, educational leaders, and change agents (Dollarhide & Gibson, 2008; Mason & McMahon, 2009). Within the limited body of school counselor leadership research, the most commonly used measure of leadership is the LPI (Mason & McMahon, 2009; Sebera, 2005; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010). Thus, the LPI was selected as a viable measure of school counselors' leadership practices for this study.

The reliability and validity of the LPI has been tested and reported in the literature (Lam, 1998; Laurent & Bradney, 2007; Potter, 2001). Internal reliability measurements indicate all subscales are at or above the .73 level using Cronbach's alpha, regardless of the organizational features (Laurent & Bradney, 2007). Test-retest reliability is stable, generally reported at the .90 level or above (Kouzes & Posner, 2002). Further, LPI scores have been found to be associated with leadership work behaviors and other measures of leadership demonstrating concurrent and construct validity (Kouzes & Posner, 2003).

Procedures

After obtaining IRB approval and permission to utilize the measures included in this study, a list of potential participants for this study were obtained from the American School Counselor Association (ASCA) online membership directory. From the ASCA database, three separate searches were conducted at each of the three school levels (elementary, middle, and high school) which resulted in a population of 5199 elementary, 3437 middle, and 7097 high school counselors. From these initial searches, a random list of 1500 potential participants (500 potential participants per school level) was generated from the ASCA database which resulted in the survey being sent to 1500 school counselors.

The invitation emails that were sent to participants are included in Appendix B. The invitation emails were sent between January and February 2016. The invitation emails described the purpose of the study and the inclusion criteria for participation. The purpose of the study was described as examining school counselors' leadership practices, and multicultural self-perceptions in an effort to enhance the future education and training of school counselors, in the area of school counselor leadership. The invitation to participate included a URL to the web survey site. After logging into the URL, participants were directed to an informed consent page (See Appendix C). On the informed consent page, participants were notified that they could elect to enter their name and email to receive an electronically delivered (i.e., by email) \$5 Amazon.com or Starbucks gift card for participation in the study.

After consenting to participate in the study, participants completed three self-report measures: (1) a sociodemographic questionnaire, (2) the LPI, and (3) the SCMES. At the end of each instrument, participants clicked a "Next Section" button, or in the case of the final instrument, a "Submit Survey" button which automatically entered their data into a Microsoft excel spreadsheet that transferred into SPSS. On the last screen of the survey, respondents were thanked for their participation in the study and indicated interest in entering their name and email address to receive a \$5 Amazon.com or Starbucks gift card by clicking on a link that took them to a web-based form. Information collected on the gift card page was stored in a secure database separate from the database containing participants' responses to the survey. All participants that elected to receive the \$5 Amazon.com or Starbucks gift card received their gift cards within 24 hours of completing their surveys. The participants' personal information was destroyed after the gift cards were electronically delivered.

Data Analysis

After the data collection was completed; the responses from the sociodemographic questionnaire, the SCMES, and the LPI were analyzed utilizing The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) (see Table 1). An alpha value of .05 was used for all statistical analyses.

Descriptive statistics were calculated for the SCMES (subscale scores) and LPI (subscale scores and total score) using means and standard deviations. Internal consistency reliability of each measure was determined by calculating the Cronbach's coefficient alphas. According to some scholars, such as Nunnally (1978), a measure with

Cronbach's alpha of .70 or greater is determined to have moderate reliability. Thus, an acceptable Cronbach alpha of .70 was used for the current study.

Additional preliminary analyses included conducting one way-ANOVAs to determine the significance of differences in dimensions of participants' multicultural self-efficacy (measured by the SCMES subscale scores) and school counselors' leadership practices (measured by the LPI total score) according to the demographic characteristics race/ethnicity, years of experience, and school urbanicity. The findings from previous studies (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008; Mason & McMahon, 2009; Na, 2012) suggest that significant differences in school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy or leadership practices might be found based on these demographics.

When significant differences were found using ANOVAs, Post-hoc analyses were conducted to show specifically where the significant differences were found within the demographic categories. Given the limited research on school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices, the analysis was conducted to extend the limited body of available research and contribute additional insight to the subsequent analysis performed in this study.

To address the primary research question examining the relationship among school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices; Pearson r product-moment correlations were computed between the SCMES and the LPI. This type of analysis evaluates the linear relationship between two or more variables (Kirk, 1999).

For this research question, the dependent variable was leadership practices (measured by

the LPI total score) and the independent variables were the six dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (measured by the SCMES subscales).

Correlational data analysis was appropriate for this study given the primary aim to understand the relationships among this study's constructs. The results from this study could provide insight on the relative importance of school counselors' multicultural capacities to utilizing leadership skills in schools which would have implications for counselor education and enhancing the professional development of practicing school counselors.

To address the secondary research question examining if multicultural self-efficacy predicted school counselors' leadership practices, a hierarchal multiple regression analysis was used to determine which dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy were higher predictors of school counselors' leadership and the overall variance explained by the combination of the six dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy. For this question, the dependent variable was school counselors' leadership (measured by the LPI total score) and the independent variables were the six domains of multicultural self-efficacy (measured by the SCMES subscales).

Hierarchal multiple regression was selected for this study given that it allows the researcher to examine the influence of several predictor variables in a sequential way, such that the relative importance of a predictor may be judged on the basis of how much it adds to the prediction of the criterion over and above that which can be accounted for by other important predictors (Petrocelli, 2003). As such, SCMES subscales were entered into the regression model based on the strength of their correlations to school counselors'

leadership practices in an effort to understand which dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy might be stronger predictors of school counselors' leadership practices. The results from this study could provide insight on specific areas of school counselors' multicultural capabilities that require greater attention in the school counselor leadership discourse.

Table 1

Data Analytic Techniques for Research Questions

					. 170	<u> </u>
Research Question		Data Source		Da	ita Type	Analysis
1.	What is the relationship	1.	SCMES	1.	7-point scale	Pearson <i>r</i>
	among dimensions of	2.	LPI	2.	10-point scale	product-
	school counselors'					moment
	multicultural self-efficacy					correlations
	(i.e., multicultural					
	knowledge, using data and					
	understanding systemic					
	change, developing cross-					
	cultural relationships,					
	multicultural counseling					
	awareness, multicultural					
	assessment, and application					
	of racial and cultural					
	knowledge to practice) and					
	school counselors'					
	leadership practices?					
2.	Does school counselors'	1.	SCMES	1.	7-point scale	Hierarchal
	multicultural self-efficacy	2.	LPI	2.		Multiple
	predict school counselors'				1	Regression
	leadership practices?					<i>5</i>
	COMEC C. 1. 1.C. 1.		1.1 1. 1.70	201	C 1 IDI I	1 1 .

Note. SCMES= School Counseling Multicultural Efficacy Scale; LPI= Leadership Practices Inventory

Chapter Four

Results

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship among school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices. Specifically, to determine if school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy predicted their leadership practices. The researcher collected data as described in Chapter 3. Chapter four presents the results of the analyses, including descriptive statistics and reliability of the instruments and results of the research questions and hypothesis.

Participants

Out of the 1500 surveys that were sent to potential participants through the ASCA membership directory, a total of 230 surveys were electronically completed which constituted a response rate of 15%. A visual analysis of the data in coordination with SPSS tools showed that twelve (N=12) participants did not fully complete one or more of the measures in this study, resulting in data from these cases being removed from the data file. Further, the prescreening of data for outliers resulted in data from an additional six (N=6) participants being removed from this study. Overall, the prescreening of data resulted in 212 usable surveys. The total number of participants in the sample was 212 (N=212). According to the power analysis conducted by the researcher, the total number of participants (N=212) exceeded the minimum sample size needed for this study.

Descriptive statistics for the sample are included in Table 2. The participants were primarily female (89.4%). The largest percentage of the sample fell within the age range of 31-40 (37.7%) followed by nearly a third (29.2%) of the sample that fell within the age range of 41-50. The predominant racial/ethnic background of the participants was White (77.8%) followed by Black/African-American (13.7%), Latino/Hispanics (5.2%), Biracial/Multi-racial (1.4%), Asian/Pacific Islander (.9%), and Native American (.9%). The years of experience of the sample's participants were relatively evenly distributed across ranges between 1 and 19 years; however, the 4-7-year range represented the highest percentage (21.2%). A small percentage (4.7%) of the sample reported their years of experience at the lowest range (less than 1 year) and less than ten percent of the sample (9%) reported their years of experience at the highest range (over 19 years).

A little over a third (32.5%) of the participants reported working at their current school for 1-3 years followed by another third (30.7%) of the sample that had either 4-7 years or 8-10 years of tenure at their current school. Only 16 percent of the participants reported working at their current school for less than 1 year. The sample was relatively evenly distributed by school level with 72 (34%) elementary, 65 (30.7%) middle, and 61 (28.8%) high school counselors represented in the study. Less than seven percent of participants reported working at an alternative, multi-level, or school classified as other. The majority (45.8%) of the sample reported working in suburban schools, followed by a little over a third (33.5%) of the sample that reported working in rural schools, and approximately 20 percent (20.8%) of the sample that reported working in urban schools.

Table 2 $Demographic\ Characteristics\ of\ Participants\ (N=212)$

Characteristic	N	%
Sex		
Male	23	10.8
Female	189	89.2
Age		
20-30	29	13.7
31-40	80	37.7
41-50	62	29.2
51-60	32	15.1
61 or over	9	4.2
Race/Ethnicity		
Black/African-American	29	13.7
Latino(a)/Hispanic	11	5.2
Asian/Pacific Islander	2	.9
White/Caucasian	165	77.8
Native American	2	.9
Bi-racial/Multi-racial	3	1.4
Total Years of Experience		
Less than 1 year	10	4.7
1-3 years	34	16.0
4-7 years	45	21.2
8-10 years	39	18.4
11-14 years	33	15.6
15-19 years	32	15.1
Over 19 years	19	9.0
Tenure at Current School		
Less than 1 year	34	16.0
1-3 years	69	32.5
4-7 years	43	20.3
8-10 years	22	10.4
11-14 years	20	9.4
15-19 years	19	9.0
Over 19 years	5	2.4
School Level		
Elementary	72	34.0
Middle	65	30.7
High	61	28.8
Alternative	4	1.9
Multi-level	6	2.8
Other	4	1.9

School Urbanicity		
Suburban	97	45.8
Urban	44	20.8
Rural	71	33.5

Descriptive Statistics

SCMES. Data from the SCMES was analyzed by calculating the mean score, standard deviation, and Cronbach's coefficient of reliability for each of the six subscales (See Table 3). Consistent with previous studies on school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy (Crook, 2010; Gordillo, 2015), mean scores for each SCMES subscale were obtained by summing the scale items and then dividing by the number of items on the scale.

Overall, the data indicated that school counselors felt "pretty well" (factor 1, M = 5.79, SD = .75; factor 2, M = 5.35, SD = .91; factor 3, M = 6.41, SD = .52; factor 4, M = 5.77, SD = .71; factor 5, M = 5.51, SD = .85, factor 6, M = 5.65, SD = .77) regarding their ability to perform tasks related to multicultural school counseling. However, participants' perceptions of multicultural self-efficacy were strongest in developing cross-cultural relationships (M = 6.41, SD = .52) and lowest in using data and understanding systemic change (M = 5.35, SD = .91) and multicultural assessment (M = 5.51, SD = .85).

These findings were consistent with results from previous studies (e.g., Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008) and suggested that (overall) school counselors felt relatively confident in tasks related to multicultural counseling, particularly in building

relationships with diverse populations; however, school counselors felt less confident in utilizing data as an advocacy tool and advocating for multicultural considerations in school policies and practices, such as testing.

Cronbach's coefficient of reliability was calculated for each SCMES factor and yielded a coefficient alpha of α = .93 for factor 1, α = .86 for factor 2, α = .80 for factor 3, α = .91 for factor 4, α = .87 for factor 5, and α = .83 for factor 6. Cronbach alpha reliability coefficients for this study were similar to the results of Crook (2010) that found α = .93 for factor 1, α = .87 for factor 2, α = .86 for factor 3, α = .88 for factor 4, α = .90 for factor 5, and α = .86 for factor 6. Given research that has shown that an alpha coefficient of .80 or greater indicates that an instrument has good internal reliability (Pedhazur & Scmelkin, 1991), it can be determined that all SCMES subscales had good reliability in this study.

Table 3

Means, Standard Deviations, Cronbach Alpha Coefficients for the SCMES (N=212)

SCMES Subscales	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	α
Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1)	3.36	7.00	5.79	0.75	0.93
Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2)	2.78	7.00	5.35	0.91	0.86
Developing cross-cultural relationships (Factor 3)	4.86	7.00	6.41	0.52	0.80
Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4)	3.44	7.00	5.77	0.71	0.91
Multicultural assessment (Factor 5)	3.14	7.00	5.51	0.85	0.87

7.00

5.65

0.77

0.83

Note. Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1) = SCMES subscale "knowledge of multicultural concepts"; Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2) = SCMES subscale "using data and understanding systemic change"; Developing crosscultural relationships (Factor 3) = SCMES subscale "developing cross-cultural relationships"; Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4) = SCMES subscale "multicultural counseling awareness"; Multicultural assessment (Factor 5) = SCMES subscale "multicultural assessment"; Application of racial and cultural knowledge (Factor 6) = SCMES subscale "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice"

LPI. Data from the LPI was analyzed by calculating subscale scores as well as a LPI total score. Descriptive statistics for the LPI are included on Table 4. Subscale scores were calculated by summing the responses to the six items included in each subscale. The LPI total score was calculated by averaging the responses to all 30 items into a single score.

With the highest possible score of any LPI subscale being 60, the mean of school counselors' LPI total score was relatively high (M = 48.47, SD = 6.56) suggesting that (overall) participants perceived themselves as "usually" engaging in leadership practices in schools. The LPI subscale measuring "enable others to act" had the highest mean score (M = 51.65, SD = 5.48) whereas the lowest scores were reported on the "inspiring a shared vision" subscale (M = 46.14, 8.62) and "challenging the process" subscales (M = 46.95, 7.73). These results are consistent with previous research findings (Mason, 2008; Mason & McMahon, 2009; Sebera, 2005) and suggest that participants more frequently engaged in leadership practices related to fostering collaborative partnerships and less frequently engaged in leadership practices related to motivating others towards organizational goals and generating systemic change.

Cronbach's coefficient of reliability was calculated for each LPI subscale and the LPI total score and were as follows: model the way (MTW, α = .78); inspire a shared vision (ISV, α = .88); challenge the process (CTP, α = .86); enable others to act (EOA, α = .75); encourage the heart (ETH, α = .88); and the LPI total score (α = .96). The alpha coefficients for the LPI subscales were slightly higher, however relatively consistent, with the results of Mason & McMahon (2009) that found Cronbach alphas for the LPI subscales ranged from α = .73 to α = .85. According to some scholars, such as Nunnally (1978), a measure with Cronbach's alpha of .70 or greater is determined to have acceptable reliability (McMillan & Schumacher, 2006). Given that, in this study, Cronbach alpha reliability coefficients for the LPI subscales ranged in size from α = .75 to α = .88, it can be determined that all LPI subscales had acceptable levels of reliability with this group of study participants. Further, the coefficient alpha (α = .96) for the LPI total score was consistent with the results of Wyse (2014) that also found excellent reliability (α = .95) in this study for the LPI total score.

Table 4

Means, Standard Deviations, Cronbach Alpha Coefficients for the LPI (N = 212)

LPI Measure	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	α
MTW subscale	26.00	60.00	48.43	6.89	0.78
ISV subscale	18.00	60.00	46.14	8.62	0.88
CTP subscale	24.00	60.00	46.95	7.73	0.86
EOA subscale	33.00	60.00	51.65	5.48	0.75
ETH subscale	24.00	60.00	49.15	7.97	0.88
LPI Total	28.60	60.00	48.47	6.56	0.96

Note. MTW = LPI subscale "model the way"; ISV = LPI subscale "inspire a shared vision"; CTP = LPI subscale "challenge the process"; EOA = LPI subscale "enable others

to act"; ETH = LPI subscale "encourage the heart"; LPI Total = all items on the LPI measure for all subscales

Preliminary Analysis: One-Way ANOVAs

Given the limited research on school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices, preliminary analysis was conducted to extend the limited body of available research and contribute additional insight to the subsequent analysis performed in this study. A series of one way between groups analysis of variance (ANOVAs) were conducted to determine the significance of differences in participants' self-reported multicultural self-efficacy (measured by the SCMES subscales) and leadership practices (measured by the LPI total score) according to the demographic characteristics race/ethnicity, years of experience, and school urbanicity. Where significant differences were found, post hoc analyses was conducted and effect size was calculated utilizing eta squared.

SCMES and race/ethnicity. On four of the SCMES subscales (factor 1, knowledge of multicultural concepts; factor 2, using data and understanding systemic change; factor 5, multicultural assessment; and factor 6, application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice), there were statistically significant differences found based on the demographic characteristic race/ethnicity (see Table 5).

Table 5

One-Way Analysis of Variance by Race/Ethnicity (N = 212)

Variable	F	p	$p\eta^2$
Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1)	3.59	0.00*	0.08
Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2)	2.66	0.02*	0.06
Developing cross-cultural relationships (Factor 3)	1.08	0.38	0.03
Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4)	1.92	0.09	0.04
Multicultural assessment (Factor 5)	2.35	0.04*	0.05
Application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice (Factor 6)	2.57	0.03*	0.06

Note. Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1) = SCMES subscale "knowledge of multicultural concepts"; Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2) = SCMES subscale "using data and understanding systemic change"; Developing crosscultural relationships (Factor 3) = SCMES subscale "developing cross-cultural relationships"; Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4) = SCMES subscale "multicultural counseling awareness"; Multicultural assessment (Factor 5) = SCMES subscale "multicultural assessment"; Application of racial and cultural knowledge (Factor 6) = SCMES subscale "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice"

*p < .05

The Levene's test of equality of variance was met for the "knowledge of multicultural concepts" subscale, F(5, 206) = .10, p = .42; "using data and understanding systemic change" subscale, F(5, 206) = .69, p = .63; "multicultural assessment" subscale, F(5, 206) = 1.00, p = .42; and "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice" subscale, F(5, 206) = 1.84, p = .11. On the "knowledge of multicultural concepts" subscale, the statistically significant difference found by race/ethnicity, F(5, 206) = 3.59, p < .001, $p\eta^2 = .08$ implied that 8% of the variance in multicultural knowledge was

accounted for by participants' race/ethnicity. Cohen's recommendations for interpreting $p\eta^2$ demonstrated that the effect size of .08 was relatively medium (Cohen, 1988). The Tukey HSD post-hoc test indicated that Black/African-American school counselors self-reported higher self-efficacy in multicultural knowledge than White school counselors (p < .001).

On the "using data and understanding systemic change" subscale, there was also a statistically significant difference found by race/ethnicity, F(5, 206) = 2.66, p = .02, $p\eta^2 = .06$ which implied that 6 % of the variance in using data and understanding systemic change was accounted for by participants' race/ethnicity. Cohen's recommendations for interpreting $p\eta^2$ demonstrated that the effect size of .06 was relatively medium (Cohen, 1988). The Tukey HSD post hoc test indicated that Black/African-American school counselors reported higher self-efficacy in using data and understanding systemic change than White school counselors (p = .01).

On the "multicultural assessment" subscale, there was a statistically significant difference found by race/ethnicity, F(5, 206) = 2.35, p = .04, $p\eta^2 = .05$ which implied that 5% of the variance in multicultural assessment was accounted for by participants' race/ethnicity. Cohen's recommendations for interpreting $p\eta^2$ demonstrated that the effect size of .05 was relatively small (Cohen, 1988). The Tukey HSD post hoc test indicated that Black/African-American school counselors reported higher self-efficacy in multicultural assessment than White school counselors (p = .05).

On the "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice" subscale, there was also a statistically significant difference found by race/ethnicity, F(5, 206) = 2.57, p

= .03, $p\eta^2$ = .06 which implied that 6% of the variance in application of racial and cultural knowledge was accounted for by race/ethnicity. Cohen's recommendations for interpreting $p\eta^2$ demonstrated that the effect size of .06 was relatively medium (Cohen, 1988). The Tukey HSD test indicated that Black/African-American school counselors reported higher self-efficacy in applying racial and cultural knowledge than White school counselors (p = .02).

Overall, findings indicated that Black/African-American school counselors self-reported higher self-efficacy in particular dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (factor 1, multicultural knowledge; factor 2, using data and understanding systemic change; factor 5, multicultural assessment; and factor 6, application of racial and cultural knowledge) compared to White school counselors. These results were consistent with previous researchers (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al.,2008; Na, 2012) that also found significant differences in school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy based on school counselors' self-identified race/ethnicity. However, these results should be interpreted with caution given the low numbers of Black/African-American school counselors that participated in thus study. The predominant racial/ethnic background of the participants in this study was White (N = 165) with significantly less Black/African-American participants (N = 29).

Although this study did not find significant differences between other racial/ethnic groups; it should be also noted that (similar to Black/African-American school counselors) only a small percentage of this study's sample consisted of participants that self-identified as Latino/Hispanics (5.2%), Biracial/Multi-racial (1.4%),

Asian/Pacific Islander (.9%), or Native American (.9%) which could have also limited this study's findings as it relates to those groups.

SCMES and years of experience. For the demographic variable, years of experience, there was a statistically significant difference found on factor 3, developing cross-cultural relationships (see Table 6).

Table 6

One-Way Analysis of Variance by Years of Experience (N = 212)

Variable	F	p	$p\eta^2$
Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1)	1.07	0.38	0.03
Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2)	0.42	0.87	0.01
Developing cross-cultural relationships (Factor 3)	2.15	0.04*	0.06
Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4)	0.64	0.70	0.02
Multicultural assessment (Factor 5)	0.77	0.60	0.02
Application of racial and cultural concepts to practice (Factor 6)	1.11	0.36	0.03

Note. Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1) = SCMES subscale "knowledge of multicultural concepts"; Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2) = SCMES subscale "using data and understanding systemic change"; Developing crosscultural relationships (Factor 3) = SCMES subscale "developing cross-cultural relationships"; Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4) = SCMES subscale "multicultural counseling awareness"; Multicultural assessment (Factor 5) = SCMES subscale "multicultural assessment"; Application of racial and cultural knowledge (Factor 6) = SCMES subscale "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice"

^{*}p < .05

In this study, the Levene's test of equality of variance was not met for Factor 3 (developing cross-cultural relationships), F(6, 205) = 2.15, p = .04 so the researcher obtained Welch's adjusted F ratio (Welch, 1951). The violation of the homogeneity of variance assumption has been proven to frequently invalidate the use of the analysis of variance (ANOVA) F test in one-way independent groups design (Lix, Keselman, & Keselman, 1996). However; Welch's F test is considered a robust approach for performing an ANOVA analysis, when the homogeneity of variance assumption has been violated, and was consequently utilized for this study (Field, 2013). Results indicated that $F(6, 66.40) = 3.34, p = .07, p\eta^2 = .06$, which implied that 6% of the variance in developing cross-cultural relationships was explained by participants' years of experience. Cohen's recommendations for interpreting $p\eta^2$ demonstrated that the effect size of .06 was relatively medium (Cohen, 1988). The Games-Howell post hoc test indicated that school counselors with over 19 years of experience reported higher selfefficacy in developing cross-cultural relationships than school counselors with 4 to 7 years of experience (p = .01).

Overall, these results suggested that school counselors with the most experience (over 19 years) self-reported higher self-efficacy in developing cross-cultural relationships than school counselors with moderate experience (4-7 years). Within the limited body of research on school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy, results have been somewhat mixed regarding the impact of school counselors' years of experience. Consistent with results from this study, previous researchers (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy at al., 2008; Na, 2012) found school counselors' years of experience significantly

related to their self-reported multicultural self-efficacy. However, in a study centered on urban school counselors Gordillo (2015) study found that school counselors' work experience was not predictive of their multicultural self-efficacy.

SCMES and school urbanicity. For the demographic variable, school urbanicity, there was a statistically significant difference found on factor 1, knowledge of multicultural concepts and factor 6, application of racial and cultural concepts to practice (see Table 7).

Table 7

One-Way Analysis of Variance by School Urbanicity (N = 212)

Variable	F	p	$p\eta^2$
Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1)	4.91	0.01*	0.05
Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2)	2.08	0.13	0.02
Developing cross-cultural relationships (Factor 3)	0.64	0.53	0.01
Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4)	3.03	0.05	0.03
Multicultural assessment (Factor 5)	2.48	0.09	0.02
Application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice (Factor 6)	3.74	0.03*	0.04

Note. Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1) = SCMES subscale "knowledge of multicultural concepts"; Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2) = SCMES subscale "using data and understanding systemic change"; Developing cross-cultural relationships (Factor 3) = SCMES subscale "developing cross-cultural relationships"; Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4) = SCMES subscale "multicultural counseling awareness"; Multicultural assessment (Factor 5) = SCMES subscale "multicultural assessment"; Application of racial and cultural knowledge (Factor 6) = SCMES subscale "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice". *p < .05

On the "knowledge of multicultural concepts" subscale, the Levene's test of equality of variance was met, F(2, 209) = 2.304, p = .10 and the statistically significant difference found by school urbanicity F(2, 209) = 4.91, p = .01, $p\eta^2 = .05$ suggested that 5% of the variance in multicultural knowledge was accounted for by participants' school urbanicity. Cohen's recommendations for interpreting $p\eta^2$ demonstrated that the effect size of .05 was relatively small (Cohen, 1988). The Tukey HSD test indicated that school counselors that worked in urban school settings reported higher self-efficacy in multicultural knowledge than school counselors that worked in suburban school settings (p = .01) and rural school settings (p = .01).

On the "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice" subscale, the Levene's test of equality of variance was met, F(2, 209) = 1.55, p = .21 and the statistically significant difference found by school urbanicity F(2, 209) = 3.74, p = .03, $p\eta^2 = .04$ implied that 4% of the variance in applying racial and cultural knowledge to practice was accounted for by school urbanicity. Cohen's recommendations for interpreting $p\eta^2$ demonstrated that the effect size of .04 was relatively small (Cohen, 1988), The Tukey HSD test indicated that school counselors that worked in urban school settings reported higher self-efficacy in applying racial and cultural knowledge than school counselors that worked in suburban school settings (p = .04) and school counselors that worked in rural school settings (p = .04) and school

Overall, these results suggested that school counselors working in urban areas self-reported higher self-efficacy in certain dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (multicultural knowledge and applying racial and cultural knowledge to practice) than

school counselors working in suburban and rural schools. These results were consistent with previous studies which found that school counselors that work in schools where there might be larger caseloads of students from diverse backgrounds self-report higher multicultural self-efficacy (Crook, 2010; Gordillo, 2015; Na, 2012).

LPI and race/ethnicity, years of experience, and school urbanicity. There were no statistically significant differences found in school counselors' leadership practices based on race/ethnicity (p = .88), years of experience (p = .07), or school urbanicity (p = .13). Kouzes and Posner (2002), noted that, in general, studies have found LPI scores to be unrelated with various demographic characteristics such as age and years of experience. Within the limited body of research on school counselor leadership, previous researchers (Mason & McMahon, 2009; Sebera, 2005) have not found significant differences in school counselors' leadership practices based on race/ethnicity or school urbanicity.

However, results for years of experience have been mixed. Mason & McMahon's (2009) study found that school counselors with more years of experience self-reported higher on leadership practices than their less experienced peers. However, Sebera's (2005) study found no significant differences in school counselors' leadership practices based on years of experience. Although the total years of experience of this sample's participants were relatively evenly distributed between 1 and 19 years, only a small percentage of the sample reported having less than 1 year of experience or over 19 years of experience, which could have masked potentially significant differences between the most novice and experienced school counselors.

Correlational Analyses

To address the primary research question in this study examining the relationship among dimensions of school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy (i.e., multicultural knowledge, using data, developing cross-cultural relationships, multicultural counseling awareness, multicultural assessment, and applying racial and cultural knowledge) and school counselors' leadership practices, Pearson r correlations were performed. Preliminary analysis was performed to ensure no violation of the assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity. The null hypothesis was that there would be no statistically significant relationships among dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (measured by the SCMES subscales) and school counselors' leadership practices (measured by the LPI total score). The null hypothesis was rejected as this study found that all correlations were positive and significant at the p < .01 level (see Table 8).

Cohen (1988) suggested some guidelines for interpreting the strength of linear correlation: that a weak correlation typically had an absolute value of r = .10 (about one percent of the variance explained), a moderate correlation had an absolute value of r = .30 (about nine percent of the variance explained), and a strong correlation typically had an absolute value of r = .50 (about 25 percent of the variance explained).

Table 8 Pearson Linear Correlation between School Counselor Multicultural Self-Efficacy and Leadership (N=212)

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Knowledge of multicultural							
concepts (Factor 1)		.73**	.58**	.80**	.76**	.78**	.49**

2. Using data, systemic change (Factor 2) .51** .72** .82** .64** .52** 3. Developing cross-cultural .53** relationships (Factor 3) .62** .52** .40** 4. Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4) .75** .75** .50** 5. Multicultural assessment .73** (Factor 5) .58** 6. Application of racial and cultural .50** knowledge to practice (Factor 6) 7. LPI Total

Note. Knowledge of multicultural concepts (Factor 1) = SCMES subscale "knowledge of multicultural concepts"; Using data and understanding systemic change (Factor 2) = SCMES subscale "using data and understanding systemic change"; Developing crosscultural relationships (Factor 3) = SCMES subscale "developing cross-cultural relationships"; Multicultural counseling awareness (Factor 4) = SCMES subscale "multicultural counseling awareness"; Multicultural assessment (Factor 5) = SCMES subscale "multicultural assessment"; Application of racial and cultural knowledge (Factor 6) = SCMES subscale "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice"; LPI Total = all items on the LPI measure for all subscales **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Using Cohen's (1988) criteria, this study found strong correlations between the following dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (SCMES subscales) and school counselors' overall leadership practices (the LPI total score): factor 2, using data and understanding systemic change (r = .52, p < .01); factor 4, multicultural counseling awareness (r = .50, p < .01; factor 5, multicultural assessment (r = .58, p < .01); and factor 6, application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice (r = .50, p < .01). The strongest correlation found between the SCMES subscales and the LPI total score was between factor 5, multicultural assessment and the LPI total score (r = .58, p < .01). Sample items for factor 5, multicultural assessment include: "I can discuss how assessment can lead to inequitable opportunities for students"; "I can identify racist

and/or biased practices in schools"; and "I can identify unfair policies that discriminate against students from culturally diverse backgrounds."

These results suggested that school counselors' self-efficacy in identifying discriminatory and racist practices in school, particularly as it relates to testing, plays a significant role in their overall leadership capacities. Further, this study's findings implied that school counselors' awareness to multicultural issues (factor 4) and ability to integrate awareness of racial concepts into practice (factor 6) and utilize data as an advocacy tool (factor 2), were also significantly related to their leadership practices in schools. Although the relationship between school counselor's multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices have not been studied previously, this study's results are similar to the findings of McLendon's (2015) mixed-methods study exploring the multicultural leadership behavior of school counselors where multicultural competence was found to be significantly related to school counselors' leadership behavior.

Hierarchal Multiple Regression Analyses

To address the secondary research question in this study examining if school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy predicted school counselors' leadership practices, hierarchal multiple regression was utilized to estimate how much variance in leadership (measured by the LPI total score) was accounted for by multicultural self-efficacy (measured by the SCMES subscales). The null hypothesis was that multicultural self-efficacy would not predict school counselors' leadership practices. Preliminary analysis was conducted to ensure no violation of the assumptions of normality, linearity, multicollinearity and homoscedasticity. The null hypothesis was rejected as each Model

was significant at the .01 alpha level, all of the SCMES subscales (combined) accounted for 36% of the variance in school counselors' leadership practices (indicated by Model 6), and factor 5 (multicultural assessment) uniquely explained 34% of the variance in school counselors' leadership practices (as indicated by Model 1) (See Table 9).

Table 9

Summary of Hierarchal Multiple Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Leadership (N = 212)

		\mathbb{R}^2		Sig F	Standardized	
Variables	R^2	Change	F	Change	Beta	t
Model 1: Factor 5	0.34	0.34	108.83***	0.00	0.58***	10.43
Model 2: Factor 5	0.35	0.00	55.07***	0.27	0.50***	5.06
Factor 2					0.11	1.10
Model 3: Factor 5	0.35	0.01	37.75***	0.12	0.43***	4.02
Factor 2					0.06	0.64
Factor 4					0.14	1.54
Model 4: Factor 5	0.36	0.00	28.66***	0.26	0.39***	3.43
Factor 2					0.07	0.68
Factor 4					0.09	0.88
Factor 6					0.10	1.13
Model 5: Factor 5	0.36	0.00	22.82***	0.97	0.39***	3.41
Factor 2					0.07	0.67
Factor 4					0.09	0.83
Factor 6					0.10	1.07
Factor 1					0.00	-0.04
Model 6: Factor 5	0.36	0.01	19.36***	0.20	.039***	3.40
Factor 2					0.06	0.61
Factor 4					0.05	0.49
Factor 6					0.10	1.01
Factor 1					-0.02	-0.18
Factor 3					0.09	1.30

Note. Factor 1= SCMES subscale "knowledge of multicultural concepts"; Factor 2 = SCMES subscale "using data and understanding systemic change"; Factor 3 = SCMES subscale "developing cross-cultural relationships"; Factor 4 = SCMES subscale "multicultural counseling awareness"; Factor 5 = SCMES subscale "multicultural assessment"; Factor 6 = SCMES subscale "application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice"

****p* < .001

SCMES subscales were entered into the model based on the strength of their correlations to leadership. The subscale with the strongest correlation to leadership (factor 5, multicultural assessment) was entered first as the control variable in Model 1. The hierarchical multiple regression revealed that Model 1, multicultural assessment was statistically significant to the regression model, $r^2 = .34$, F(1, 210) = 108.83, p < .001) uniquely explaining 34% of the variance in school counselors' leadership practices.

Factor 2 (using data and understanding systemic change) was added at Model 2. The total variance explained by Model 2 as a whole was 35% (r^2 = .35), F (1, 210) = 55.07, p < .001. The addition of factor 2 did not generate a statistically significant change in the variance in school counselors' leadership, as indicated by the r squared value (r^2 = .00). Further, the Beta value for factor 2 (beta = .11, p > .05) was lower than the beta value for factor 5 (beta = .50, p < .001) suggesting that school counselors' self-efficacy related to using data makes much less of a unique contribution to school counselors' leadership practices than multicultural assessment (which made the strongest, unique contribution in this model).

Factor 4 (multicultural counseling awareness) was added at Model 3. The total variance explained by Model 3 as a whole was 35% ($r^2 = .35$), F(1, 210) = 37.75, p < .45

.001. The addition of factor 4 did not generate a statistically significant change in the variance in school counselors' leadership, as indicated by the r squared value ($r^2 = .01$). The Beta value for factor 5 (beta = .43, p < .001) was higher than the beta values for factor 2 (beta = .06, p > .05) and factor 4 (beta = .14, p > .05) suggesting that school counselors' self-efficacy related to using data and multicultural awareness made much less of a unique contribution to school counselors' leadership practices than multicultural assessment (which made the strongest, unique contribution in this model).

Factor 6 (application of racial and cultural knowledge) was added at Model 4. The total variance explained by Model 4 as a whole was 36% (r^2 = .36), F(1, 210) = 28.66, p < .001. The addition of factor 6 did not generate a statistically significant change in the variance in school counselors' leadership, as indicated by the r squared value (r^2 = .00). The Beta value for factor 5 (beta = .39, p < .001) was higher than the beta values for factor 2 (beta = .07, p > .05), factor 4 (beta = .09, p > .05), and factor 6 (beta = .10, p > .05) suggesting that school counselors' self-efficacy related to using data, multicultural awareness, and applying racial and cultural knowledge; made much less of a unique contribution to school counselors' leadership practices than multicultural assessment (which made the strongest, unique contribution in this model).

Factor 1 (multicultural knowledge) was added at Model 5. The total variance explained by Model 5 as a whole was the same as Model 4, 36% ($r^2 = .36$), F(1, 210) = 22.82, p < .001. The addition of factor 1 did not generate a statistically significant change in the variance in school counselors' leadership, as indicated by the r squared value ($r^2 = .00$). The Beta value for factor 5 (beta = .39, p < .001) was higher than the beta values for

factor 2 (beta = .07, p > .05), factor 4 (beta = .09, p > .05), factor 6 (beta = .10, p > .05), and factor 1 (beta = 0, p > .05) suggesting that school counselors' self-efficacy related to using data, multicultural awareness, applying racial and cultural knowledge, and multicultural knowledge; make much less of a unique contribution to school counselors' leadership practices than multicultural assessment (which made the strongest, unique contribution in this model).

In the final Model; factor 3, developing cross-cultural relationships was added. This model included all of the SCMES subscales. The total variance explained by Model 6 as a whole was 36% (r^2 = .36), F(1, 210) = 19.36, p < .001. The addition of factor 3 did not generate a statistically significant change in the variance in school counselors' leadership, as indicated by the r squared value (r^2 = .01). The Beta value for factor 5 was highest (beta = .39, p < .001) followed by factor 3 (beta = .09, p > .05), factor 2 (beta = .06, p > .05), factor 4 (beta = .05, p > .05), factor 6 (beta = .10 p > .05), and factor 1 (beta = .10 p > .05). These results suggested that, combined, dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy accounted for over a third (36%) of the variance in school counselors' leadership practices with self-efficacy related to multicultural assessment making the strongest, unique contribution to school counselors' leadership practices.

Summary

The results from the descriptive statistics, one way ANOVAs, correlational analysis, and regression analysis generated some useful insights regarding school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices. Overall, the data indicated that school counselors felt "pretty well" regarding their ability to perform tasks

related to multicultural school counseling. However, participants' reported being most confident in developing cross-cultural relationships and least confident in using data and multicultural assessment. Similarly, participants self-reported their engagement in leadership practices relatively high. However, participants self-reported more frequent engagement in leadership practices related to fostering collaborative partnerships and less frequent engagement in leadership practices related to motivating others towards organizational goals and generating systemic change.

One-way ANOVAs found significant differences on the SCMES based on the demographic characteristics race/ethnicity, years of experience, and school urbanicity. Although results should be interpreted with caution given the small number of racial/ethnic minority school counselors that participated in this study, findings indicated that Black/African-American school counselors self-reported higher self-efficacy in multicultural knowledge; using data and understanding systemic change; multicultural assessment; and applying racial and cultural knowledge to practice, compared to White school counselors. For the demographic variable, years of experience, there was a statistically significant difference found on factor 3 (developing cross-cultural relationships) such that school counselors with the most experience (over 19 years) selfreported higher self-efficacy in developing cross-cultural relationships than school counselors with moderate experience (4-7 years). For the demographic variable school urbanicity there was a statistically significant difference found on factor 1 (multicultural knowledge) and factor 6 (applying racial and cultural knowledge to practice) such that school counselors working in urban schools self-reported higher self-efficacy in

multicultural knowledge and applying racial and cultural knowledge to practice than school counselors working in suburban and rural schools. For school counselors' leadership practices, there were no statistically significant differences found based on race/ethnicity, years of experience, or school urbanicity.

This study found positive, significant (p < .01) correlations between school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices. Overall; the correlation matrix suggested that the dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy that correlated strongest with school counselors' leadership were multicultural assessment and using data. Building upon these findings, results from the hierarchal multiple regression analysis indicated that all of the SCMES subscales combined (i.e., multicultural knowledge, using data and understanding systemic change, developing cross-cultural relationships, multicultural counseling awareness, multicultural assessment, and application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice) accounted for 36% of the variance in school counselors' leadership practices (p < .001). However, the SCMES subscale "multicultural assessment" uniquely explained 34% of the variance in school counselors' leadership practices (p < .001). A more detailed discussion of the results, the implications for school counselors and counselor educators, and recommendations for future research will be described in Chapter Five.

Chapter Five

Discussion

School counselors are in a unique position to advocate for social change by challenging the institutions that have created and maintained the injustices that impact students (Adelman & Taylor, 2002; Lee, 2007; Arredondo, 2008). School counselor educators have written extensively on the critical role of advocacy and leadership by school counselors to promote college and career readiness and increase academic achievement, particularly for historically marginalized, racial/ethnic minority students (e.g., Bemak & Chung, 2008; Carey & Dimmitt, 2012; Chen-Hayes, Ockerman, & Mason, 2013; Janson, 2009). However, limited empirical research exists to support the link between school counselors' leadership practices and their multicultural capabilities. This is a serious issue.

With racial/ethnic minority students projected to become the "majority" within the U.S. student population by fall 2024; it is critical for all school leaders to have the multicultural capacities needed to effectively lead culturally diverse communities and advocate for policies and practices that can close achievement gaps in schools and districts (Horsford, Grosland, & Gunn, 2010). In order to ensure that school counselors are equipped with the skills needed to effectively address the needs of diverse populations and close achievement gaps in schools, research is needed to examine school counselors' leadership practices in relation to their multicultural capabilities.

To address the significant lack of research in this area; the primary purpose of this study was to examine the relationship among school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy and leadership practices. Specifically, this study aimed to understand if school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy predicted their leadership practices. There has not been a study, to date, that has examined the relationship among the constructs in this study. A total of 212 school counselors from across the United States participated in this study. Participants were recruited from the American School Counselor Association (ASCA).

Data were collected from participants utilizing an online survey consisting of instruments designed to measure school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy, leadership practices, and demographic characteristics. This chapter focuses on providing an interpretation of the results found in this study connecting this study's findings to previous research, providing implications and recommendations for school counseling practice and counselor education, and describing this study's limitations.

Multicultural Self-Efficacy

Recommendations for future research are also suggested.

The results of this study, consistent with previous research (e.g., Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008), found that, overall, school counselors felt relatively confident regarding their ability to perform tasks related to multicultural school counseling. This finding could be explained by the fact that multicultural perspectives have become embedded into many aspects of the counseling profession (ASCA, 2010, 2012; Ratts et al., 2016; Sue, Arredondo, & McDavis, 1992). For instance, counselor

education programs seeking CACREP accreditation must include issues of social and cultural diversity in their curriculum of study (CACREP 2016). Although not all university programs seek CACREP, its standards reflect the profession's expectations of entry-level counselors (Evans et al., 2011). Thus, it can be assumed that (to some degree) all of the participants in the study have engaged in some level of training to develop their multicultural knowledge, awareness, and skills which may have resulted in the participants feeling relatively confident in their multicultural capabilities.

Although the participants in this study self-reported relatively high levels of multicultural self-efficacy, there is concern that many school counselors continue to lack sufficient multicultural skills (Bemak & Chung, 2008; Evans et al., 2011; Goodman & West-Olatunji, 2010). For instance, Holcomb-McCoy (2001) found that academic training did not significantly increase multicultural competencies among school counselors. Thus, the challenge remains in ensuring that the content of required multicultural courses in all counselor education programs prepares school counselor trainees to work effectively with diverse student populations (Bemak, 2005; Bemak & Chung, 2008; Evans et al., 2011; Ratts, De-Kruf, & Chen-Hayes, 2007).

Given the lack of multicultural counseling skills acquisition among some school counselors, many culturally diverse students continue to experience underachievement and achievement gaps (Education Trust, 2014; Kena et al., 2015). To ensure school counselors are equipped (and being adequately trained) to meet the needs of culturally diverse students, additional research is needed to examine any potential discrepancies

between school counselors' self-reported multicultural capabilities and actual multicultural practices.

Consistent with previous studies (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008); school counselors in this study were most confident in developing cross-cultural relationships and least confident in multicultural skills related to leadership and advocacy. Results from this study suggest that school counselors might potentially feel more equipped to develop relationships with culturally diverse populations and less equipped to identify inequities and injustices in school policies and practices that impact culturally diverse students.

A potential explanation for this finding could be attributed to the fact that school counselors typically receive minimal education and training in leadership and advocacy (Evans et al., 2011). For instance; Bruce and Bridgeland (2012), utilizing a nationally representative sample of school counselors (N = 5,308), found that only 51% of practicing school counselors reported receiving training in leadership. In order for school counselors to employ the skills needed to ensure that the needs of culturally diverse student populations are being addressed, they must have access to leadership and advocacy training to support their engagement in this critical work.

This study also found significant differences in school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy based on certain demographic characteristics. Findings indicated that Black/African-American school counselors self-reported higher self-efficacy in multiple dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy compared to White school counselors. Although these findings should be interpreted with caution given the small number of school

counselors of color that participated in this study, these findings are consistent with previous research utilizing the SCMES (Crook, 2010; Holcomb-McCoy et al., 2008; Na, 2012) and studies exploring multicultural competency (e.g., Constantine, 2001; Constantine & Gushue, 2003).

As noted by Holcomb-McCoy et al. (2008) and supported conceptually by scholars in the counseling field (Pope-Davis & Ottavi, 1992; Sodowsky et al., 1991; Sue & Sue, 1990; Sue & Sue, 2008) school counselors of color may have life experiences that contribute to more heightened sensitivity, awareness, and willingness to address issues related to cultural and racial differences. What remains unclear from the results of this study is additional factors that might have impacted the multicultural self-efficacy of the school counselors of color in this study.

For instance, scholars have noted racial identity development as a "significant underlying construct" of multicultural competence (Chao, 2013; Sodowsky, Taffe, & Gutkin, 1991; Sue & Sue, 1990). That is, counselors may be able to better understand other racial and cultural groups when they are aware of their own racial attitudes and feelings (Constantine, Juby, & Liang, 2001; Parker, Moore, & Neimeyer, 1998).

Although never directly studied, the racial identity of the school counselors of color in this study could have impacted their self-efficacy regarding meeting the needs, and promoting equity, for ethnically and culturally diverse students. That is, the Black counselors in this study may have been operating from a high level of racial identity development, thereby increasing their understanding of and ability to advocate for students of color. Additional research in this area could provide researchers and

practitioners with a more comprehensive understanding of multicultural competence as it relates to school counselors' racial identity, leadership, and advocacy skills and practices.

This study also found that school counselors working in urban schools self-reported higher self-efficacy in multicultural knowledge and applying racial and cultural knowledge to practice than school counselors working in suburban and rural schools. These results are consistent with previous researchers (Crook, 2010; Gordillo, 2015; Na, 2012) and suggest that school counselors that work in geographical settings where there are greater concentrations of minority students might feel more confident with their general multicultural knowledge and ability to apply awareness of multicultural considerations and issues to their work with students, teachers, parents, and other key educational partners.

The greater number of minority students in urban schools may provide school counselors more exposure and/or immersion experiences with culturally diverse students that can foster more rapid development of multicultural awareness and skills, compared to school counselors working in rural and suburban settings. Given that the nation's schools are growing increasingly diverse; areas that are not accustomed to ethnically, culturally, and linguistically diverse students will undoubtedly be impacted by the changing demographics within the United States (Colby & Ortman, 2015). It is critical that all school counselors (working in all settings) have the multicultural capabilities to effectively work with diverse populations and employ the leadership needed to ensure that all students have the opportunity to reach their utmost potential.

Results of this study also found that veteran school counselors (with over 19 years of experience) were more confident in their abilities to develop cross-cultural relationships than school counselors with moderate experience. In counseling literature, results have been somewhat mixed regarding the impact of school counselors' years of experience on multicultural self-efficacy. Even with more recent graduates of school counseling training programs coming from programs that promote and emphasize standards set forth by CACREP and ASCA that incorporate multiculturalism, veteran school counselors might feel more self-efficacious in working with diverse populations based on their professional experiences over the course of their careers. Additional research is warranted to examine this further, particularly to determine potential discrepancies between veteran school counselors self-reported multicultural capabilities and actual multicultural practices and to generate insight regarding the multicultural skills counselors-in-training are gaining from counselor education programs. Nonetheless, all school counselors (regardless of experience level) need to be equipped with the multicultural skills needed to serve as effective leaders within the diverse contexts of today's schools.

Leadership Practices

Overall, the participants in this study self-reported frequent engagement in leadership practices in schools. A potential reason for this finding could be attributed to the fact that all participants were recruited from the American School Counselor Association (ASCA) which endorses school counselors serving as leaders in schools and utilizes leadership as one of the four foundational themes of the ASCA National Model

(ASCA, 2003, 2005, 2012). Given that participants were recruited through the ASCA database, and the study was advertised as being focused on school counselor leadership, participants may have also felt more inclined to provide socially desirable responses that positioned themselves as leaders within schools.

Consistent with previous research (Mason, 2008; Mason & McMahon, 2009; Sebera, 2005) this study's findings indicated that school counselors self-reported lowest on the LPI subscales "inspiring a shared vision" and "challenging the process." As noted by Young and Bryan (2015); the capacity to lead in schools requires the courage to challenge the status quo (Singleton & Lipton, 2006) and the ability to develop a common vision (Curry & DeVoss, 2009) that can promote positive outcomes for all students. The results of this study suggest that, although the school counselors in this study self-reported frequent engagement in leadership behavior, their leadership practices might be lacking in areas that have been deemed most essential to school counselors creating systemic change in schools. These findings highlight additional potential areas of counselor education training (i.e., inspiring stakeholders to create systemic change and challenging unjust processes in schools) that could benefit school counselors' development as effective leaders.

This study's findings that school counselors self-reported lowest on the LPI subscales "inspiring a shared vision" and "challenging the process" could also be related to what Bemak and Chung (2008) described as the "Nice Counselor Syndrome (NCS)" where school counselors are more reluctant to assume the roles as multicultural leaders or change agents in schools given the desire to maintain a "nice" persona and minimize any

potential interpersonal disagreements and conflicts with other school personnel. School counselors experiencing NCS may experience significant internal barriers to challenging injustices they see in schools, potentially overwhelmed with anxiety and fear regarding how they might be negatively perceived by school personnel for challenging the status quo. Findings from this study suggest that additional training and support for school counselors regarding advocacy and challenging processes in schools is needed.

Additional findings in this study indicated that there were no statistically significant differences in school counselors' self-reported leadership practices based on demographic variables. The current literature on school counselor leadership has been dominated by a focus on the impact of demographic characteristics (e.g., Mason & McMahon, 2009; Shillingford & Lambie, 2010). However, the results from this study suggest that other variables that impact school counselors' leadership practices might be more salient to explore. As such, in the current study, school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy was examined in relation to leadership.

Additional studies could explore other multicultural or race-related constructs, such as racial identity, that might also provide insight regarding school counselor leadership relevant to the diverse contexts in today's schools. As a psychological construct, racial identity reflects the extent to which identification with one's own socially designated racial group influences thinking, perceptions, emotions, and behaviors toward persons from other groups (Carter, 1995). Racial identity theory provides a framework to understand how people manage racial stimuli within oneself as well as within one's environment (Helms, 1995).

As diversity in the United States' student population increases and the demographic divide between students and teachers and administrators remains, it might be useful to examine the construct of racial identity (i.e., how individuals understand and internalize their socially ascribe racial group membership) and how it might impact school counselors' capacities to address the needs of diverse populations of students and implement culturally responsive leadership practices in schools. Researchers have found that counselors' racial/ethnic identity have been related to their self-reported multicultural competence (Chao, 2013; Constantine, 2002; Miklitsch 2005; Mueller & Pope, 2001; Weigand 2005) which could also have implications for school counselors employing the leadership needed to promote equity for historically underserved populations of students. Research to explore this potential connection between school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy, racial/ethnic identity, and leadership practices could be useful.

Counseling literature asserts that when professional school counselors develop and maintain a school counseling program based on leadership, they empower all stakeholders to challenge unjust institutional and systemic practices that deny the best career and college readiness opportunities to all students (ASCA, 2012; Chen-Hayes & Getch, 2015). Without the courage and willingness to challenge the status quo, tackle challenging multicultural issues and schools, and inspire stakeholders to be active partners in this critical work; it seems logical to assume that school counselors' leadership efforts will be significantly stifled.

Multicultural Self-Efficacy and Leadership Practices

This study's findings related to multicultural self-efficacy suggested that school counselors in this study were most confident in building cross-cultural relationships and least confident in employing advocacy skills to challenge systemic issues in schools. Similarly, this study's findings related to leadership practices suggested that school counselors' were least likely to engage in leadership practices related to challenging the status quo and most likely to engage in leadership practices related to building collaborative relationships and partnerships. Overall, these findings suggest that, as it relates to multicultural counseling and leadership, the school counselors in this study were more confident in their interpersonal skills and least confident in their advocacy skills. To better understand the relationship among the constructs in this study, correlation and multiple regression analyses were utilized to examine this study's hypothesis.

Hypothesis one. This study hypothesized that there would be a positive, statistically significant relationship among the dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (i.e., knowledge of multicultural concepts, using data and understanding systemic change, developing cross-cultural relationships, multicultural counseling awareness, multicultural assessment, and application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice) and school counselors' leadership practices. This hypothesis was supported as participants with higher multicultural self-efficacy (across all SCMES subscales) also reported more frequent engagement in leadership practices.

These findings suggest that, in general, school counselors in this study who were more confident in their multicultural capabilities also more frequently engaged in leadership practices. A potential explanation for this finding could be attributed to the fact that the SCMES measure incorporates school counselor advocacy for culturally diverse student populations and literature supports that being an advocate requires strong leadership skills, especially when advocating for systemic change in K-12 schools and policies (Chen- Hayes & Getch, 2015; Evans et al., 2011).

In particular, this study's results found strong relationships between certain dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (i.e., using data and understanding systemic change, multicultural counseling awareness, multicultural assessment, and application of racial and cultural knowledge to practice) and school counselors' leadership practices. The findings suggest that the leadership practices of the school counselors' in this study were strongly related to their multicultural self-efficacy regarding: (a) promoting equity in schools and utilizing data as an advocacy and equity tool; (b) understanding how one's culture and biases may affect interactions and interventions with students; (c) identifying culturally appropriate and fair testing practices in schools which includes identifying discriminatory policies and practices that impact culturally diverse students; and (d) integrating and applying awareness of racial concepts (e.g., racism and discrimination) into actual practice.

School counselors that are more self-aware of their own racial/ethnic biases and the systemic issues impacting culturally diverse students might be more likely to engage in leadership practices (such as utilizing data to identify inequities) in schools due to

heightened sensitivity to the various challenges and barriers that culturally diverse students might face within schools and the larger society. The results of this study are consistent with the description of school counselor leadership in the ASCA Model (2012) where school counselors are advocates for socially just outcomes when they actively seek to expand their cultural competence and develop their cultural proficiency as educational leaders who can acknowledge how various forms of oppression impact students.

Consistent with previous literature, the results of this study suggest that school counselors' multicultural self-awareness and awareness to systemic issues impacting culturally diverse students are essential to their development as multicultural leaders (Chung, Bemak, & Grabosky, 2011; Evans et al., 2011).

Hypothesis two. This study also hypothesized that school counselors' multicultural self-efficacy would predict their leadership practices. This hypothesis was supported as all of the dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy (combined) accounted for significant variance in school counselors' self-reported engagement in leadership practices. This was an important finding that implies that in order for school counselors to enhance their leadership in schools, they must develop and enhance their multicultural capabilities to be effective. As counselors become more culturally competent; they can utilize the multicultural knowledge, beliefs, and skills to serve students more effectively and serve as leaders within their school communities (Evans et al., 2011).

Although there has not been previous research examining the relationship among school counselors' leadership practices and multicultural self-efficacy, this study's findings could be related to a growing body of research in educational leadership that

highlights the importance of school leaders being culturally responsive to positively influence the academic achievement and engagement of traditionally underserved student populations (Banks & McGee-Banks, 2004; Klingner et al., 2005; Ladson-Billings, 1995; Riehl, 2000; Skrla, Scheurich, Garcia, & Nolly, 2006). Given that multicultural considerations are understudied in relation to educational leadership (Brooks, 2008; Horsford, 2010; Jean-Marie, Normore, & Brooks, 2009; Normore, 2008) additional research is needed to further build upon this body of literature and the findings of this study.

An unanticipated finding in this study was that the SCMES subscale "multicultural assessment" uniquely explained over a third of the variance in school counselor leadership. Results suggested that out of all the dimensions of multicultural self-efficacy, school counselors' self- efficacy in multicultural assessment was most predicative of their leadership practices. The multicultural assessment subscale assessed school counselors' perceived capabilities related to identifying how assessments can lead to inequitable opportunities for students, advocating for the appropriate use of testing for culturally diverse students, identifying racist and/or biased practices in schools, and identifying unfair policies that discriminate against students of culturally diverse backgrounds.

These results suggest that, particularly as it relates to testing, school counselors who are more aware of systemic issues impacting culturally diverse students and have the tools to advocate for better policies and practices, are more likely to employ leadership practices. Given that the use of culturally inappropriate assessments for diverse

populations of students has led to widespread issues such as the over-identification of minority students in special education and the under-identification of minority students in gifted and advanced coursework (Hernandez et al., 2014; Huber, Hynds, Skelton, Papacek, Gonzalez, & Lacy, 2012; Ladson-Billings, 1998); school counselors that have the capacity to identify such issues and advocate for better policies and practices might consequently be engaged in more leadership practices in their schools to effect systemic change.

This study's findings should also be interpreted within the high accountability context of the U.S. educational system that has put an overwhelming amount of focus on testing and the use of test results (Miller, 2010). Given the emphasis and relative importance placed on assessments in schools; school counselors that are able to challenge such "high-stakes" policies related to topics such as assessments may possess more of the leadership skills needed to tackle issues that have such significant implications for the school community (Lindsey et.al, 2013; Noguera, 2001).

Researchers have noted that leadership on behalf of multicultural issues can be very challenging and counselors often encounter systemic resistance (Arredondo, 2008; Evans et.al, 2011; Wines, 2013). The results of this study suggest that leadership development training for school counselors should prioritize assisting school counselors with identifying systemic issues (such as the inappropriate use of assessments) that impact culturally diverse students and should ensure that counselors-in-training are equipped with the advocacy skills to effect systemic change. Additional implications and recommendations are provided in the next sections.

Implications and Recommendations

Counseling practice. The findings from this study suggest that in order for school counselors to employ more leadership practices in schools, they must also build their multicultural competencies in order to be more effective advocates for culturally diverse students. Bridgeland and Bruce (2011) found that since beginning their careers, only 44% of school counselors received training in cultural competence. School counselors must actively and continuously seek to expand their multicultural knowledge, awareness, and skills to meet the needs of students and serve as effective leaders in schools. If schools and districts are not providing multicultural and/or leadership training, school counselors should self-advocate to ensure they have the skills needed to effectively address the needs of an increasingly diverse student population. School counselors should join organizations such as the American School Counselor Association (ASCA) or American Counseling Association (ACA) to gain access to resources and trainings to continuously enhance their multicultural skills.

Despite national initiatives for school counselor leadership that emphasize the use of data for advocacy, this study's findings suggested that school counselors are still not as confident in their ability to utilize data, compared to other skills. In order to position themselves as leaders in schools, school counselors must be equipped with the skills and confidence to utilize data for advocacy (ASCA, 2012; Young & Kaffenberger, 2013). As noted by Young and Kaffenberger (2013), it is critical for school counselors to review school data often found on the school, district, and state websites to determine if there are achievement or opportunity barriers that are impeding the success of students. Then,

school counselors should utilize this data to collaborate with other stakeholders to develop strategies and interventions to close achievement gaps.

For example, a school counselor should have the skills to disaggregate student course enrollment data to identify the potential underrepresentation of culturally diverse students in advanced coursework. If disproportionality is identified, the school counselor should have the confidence to present the data, highlighting these inequities, to school administrators and other key stakeholders to develop a plan of action. By doing this, a school counselor would be able to position him or herself as a student advocate and leader in the school community. Once programs and interventions are implemented to address the identified disproportionality, the school counselor should have the skills to utilize data to demonstrate the impact of the school counseling program on students (e.g., analyzing changes in grades or course enrollment trends for minority students) further building his or her leadership credibility.

As suggested through this study's findings, it is particularly important that school counselors have the confidence to not only utilize data to identify educational inequities but can also utilize data to demonstrate the positive impact of their programs on students (Bemak, Williams, & Chung, 2014). School leader effectiveness has traditionally been equated with the ability to demonstrate leadership characteristics and practices that result in positive student outcomes (Marzano, 2010). Thus, for school counselors to assume the role as leaders amongst other stakeholders they must have the skills to utilize data to connect their programs and interventions to student outcomes.

Bemak, Williams, and Chung (2014) noted that school counselors often use perception data (often in the form of pre/post student perception surveys) that doesn't effectively demonstrate the impact of their programs. Bemak and colleagues (2014) emphasized school counselors should utilize outcome data related to student achievement, attendance, and discipline to more effectively engage with stakeholders around the impact of their services and programs. By utilizing outcome data measures that are highly regarded by educational stakeholders (e.g., grades, attendance, suspension, and disciplinary referrals) school counselors can position themselves as school leaders and demonstrate the unique contributions they bring to identifying and closing achievement and opportunity gaps (Bemak, Williams, & Chung, 2014).

In addition to utilizing student outcome data; school counselors should implement other data gathering techniques to increase their awareness of issues serving as barriers to racial/ethnic minority students. For instance, school counselors can utilize focus groups to get marginalized students' perspectives on the school climate and their experiences interacting with teachers, administrators, and other students (Smith & Geroski, & Tyler, 2014). School counselors can also hold focus groups with the parents of these students to determine how welcome they feel in the school environment and how informed they are about their child's education, given that the parents of culturally diverse students frequently experience alienation from school communities (Amatea & West- Olatunji, 2007). Through utilizing focus groups to better understand the experiences of diverse populations of students and parents; school counselors can further situate themselves as

leaders within their communities that can identify systemic issues perpetuating the academic underachievement of culturally diverse students.

The results from this study suggest that through increasing school counselors' awareness of multicultural issues, they might be more motivated to engage in leadership practices. To increase awareness, school counselors can utilize culture and equity audits which involves collecting and analyzing quantitative and qualitative data (e.g., advanced coursework enrollment, test score trends, observations, climate surveys, focus group interviews) to identify any inequities impacting culturally diverse students and assess organizational cultural competence (Bustamante, Nelson, & Onwuegbuzie, 2009; Nelson, Bustamente, Sawyer, & Sloan, 2015). Through utilizing multiple approaches (e.g., focus groups, school climate surveys, community partnerships, culture and equity audits), school counselors can develop a more holistic understanding of the systemic issues impacting the success of culturally diverse students and foster the internal motivation to lead change efforts. After building their own multicultural awareness, school counselors can better educate other stakeholders on unjust institutional and systemic practices impacting students (ASCA, 2012; Chen-Hayes & Getch, 2015) and develop the collaborative processes and partnerships needed to promote sustained learning outcomes for all students (Bryan, 2005; Bryan & Henry, 2012).

Counselor education training. Findings from this study highlight the need for enhanced training in school counselor leadership that incorporates multicultural considerations. Counselor education programs should provide leadership development training that incorporates multiculturalism such that students will be equipped with the

multicultural skills needed to serve as effective leaders in schools that can advocate for equity and lead initiatives to close achievement gaps. For example, counselor education programs can expose students to school counselor leaders engaged in social justice and advocacy work for diverse populations. Through providing interactive experiences with school counselor leaders within and beyond the classroom, counselor educators can support the development of counselors-in-training leadership identities and multicultural awareness in a manner that will better prepare students to meet the challenges inherent in the diverse contexts of today's schools.

Further, this study's findings suggest that it might be helpful to integrate the following multicultural topics (in particular) into counselor education curricula: (a) promoting equity in schools and utilizing data as an advocacy tool; (b) understanding one's own culture and biases; (c) identifying unfair and discriminatory policies and practices; and (d) integrating and applying knowledge of racial and cultural concepts (e.g., the effects of racism and discrimination) into actual practice. This study's findings are consistent with counseling literature that emphasizes that counselor education programs should cultivate students' multicultural self-awareness, abilities to identify inequities that impact culturally diverse populations, and social justice advocacy skills (Bemak et al., 2011; Bemak & Chung, 2011; Bemak & Chung, 2007; Chung, Bemak, & Grabosky, 2011; Collins, Arthur, & Wong-Wylie, 2010; Ockerman & Mason, 2012; Talleyrand, Chung, & Bemak, 2006).

Despite increasing diversity within schools and the larger society, and literature that highlights the importance of integrating multiculturalism and social justice training throughout counselor education programs; most counselor education programs continue to use traditional counselor training models that are based on European American norms (Zalaquett et al., 2008) that might not be effective for equipping counselors to meet the needs of diverse populations. Researchers have argued that because of the inherently privileged and often monocultural nature of most universities, multicultural classrooms typically fail to reflect the range of multicultural diversity represented in society (Keengwe, 2010; Lee et al., 2014). Further, researchers have argued that didactic methods of presenting multicultural content only reach trainees at the cognitive level, with limited ability to produce changes in affect or behavior related to multicultural differences (Lee at al., 2014; Sperling, 2007). More innovative approaches to training counselors in multiculturalism are needed so that counselors-in-training will actually be inspired and motivated to utilize their enhanced multicultural knowledge, awareness, and skills to employ the leadership needed to effectively advocate for historically marginalized populations.

Service learning is one pedagogical approach that counselor education programs can utilize for multicultural training that addresses many of the critiques directed at conventional models by exposing trainees to the experiential realities of diverse populations (Lee at al., 2014; Tomlinson-Clarke & Clarke, 2010). Service learning takes place outside the classroom and involves counselors-in-training collaborating with school and/or community agencies to gain experience interacting and working with marginalized populations such as the homeless, foster children, and immigrant families (Bemak et al., 2011). As highlighted by Bemak et al. (2011), one of the strategies to more effectively

infuse multiculturalism within counselor education programs is to incorporate service learning opportunities with underserved and underrepresented populations.

Through facilitating fieldwork opportunities with diverse populations, counselor educators can support students with reflecting on their own (and others) leadership and advocacy practices and encourage students to further enhance these skills to bring about social change for populations who remain marginalized (Bemak, et al., 2011; Chung, Bemak & Grabosky, 2011). Further; through more direct experience with traditionally underserved populations, school counselors-in-training can gain more in-depth awareness of systemic issues impacting ethnically and culturally diverse students, have opportunities to examine their own biases related to marginalized populations, practice utilizing data for advocacy, and learn how to navigate through barriers and challenges to their leadership or advocacy efforts. In fact, results from this study showed that school counselors who worked in urban environments tended to be more confident with their multicultural knowledge and skills related to advocacy for culturally diverse students suggesting that exposure to diverse populations is critical.

In order to ensure that school counselors are equipped to be leaders that can effectively respond to the issues of diversity in today's schools; multiculturalism, social justice, advocacy, and leadership should be meaningfully infused throughout the design and implementation of counselor education programs (e.g., curriculum, field-based experiences, assignments, course offerings, diversification of the faculty and student body) (Bemak et al., 2011; Bemak & Chung, 2011; Bemak & Chung, 2007; Ockerman & Mason, 2012). In this study; participants more frequently engaged in leadership practices

focused on interpersonal skills, compared to leadership practices that involved challenging the status quo and generating systemic change suggesting the important role of counselor education programs in providing additional training and support in this area.

This study's findings highlight the need for counselor education programs to provide leadership development training that addresses how school counselors can challenge inequitable school policies and practices in schools and inspire other stakeholders to engage in collaborative partnerships to ensure better educational outcomes for historically underserved populations. School counselors must be equipped to have difficult conversations with students, teachers, administrators, parents, community members, and other key stakeholders regarding racism, discrimination, and all other forms of discrimination and oppression that undermine the academic achievement of students. Counselor education programs should provide explicit training in leadership and advocacy that prepares counselors to engage in this work and cope with potential resistance to their leadership efforts (Arredondo, 2008; Bemak & Chung, 2008; Evans et.al, 2011; Wines, 2013). By providing more direct training in leadership and advocacy that acknowledges the challenges and resistance that school counselors may face, counselor education programs could potentially prevent the burnout of school counselors committed to challenging social justice and multicultural issues.

Future research. Future research should generate insight regarding how to support school counselor leadership in the diverse contexts of today's schools. A leadership measure specific to school counseling that adequately captures multicultural considerations, and school counselors' actual multicultural leadership practices, is

needed. With more appropriate measures, the school counseling profession can utilize leadership assessment tools to more adequately equip counselors to address the complex issues of diversity inherent in today's schools.

Future studies examining school counselor leadership and multicultural self-efficacy should also extend the analysis to include other multicultural or race-related constructs. For instance, future studies could explore the potential impact of counselors' racial identity. That is, future studies could explore if school counselors with more sophisticated levels of racial identity and higher multicultural self-efficacy self-report more engagement in leadership practices. This type of information could be useful in understanding how school counselors' racial identity might relate to their confidence in multicultural tasks as well as their leadership behavior in schools, which could further inform and enhance school counselor leadership development training.

Given that school counselors of color are typically underrepresented in counseling studies; future research should purposively ensure that school counselors of color are more adequately represented. Although the participants in this study were primarily White, and the percentage was relatively consistent with the current demographics of the counseling profession, additional qualitative methods could be useful to better understand the unique challenges that school counselors of color may face when attempting to serve as leaders and advocate for multicultural issues. Research suggests that school counselors of color may experience significant challenges to their leadership and advocacy efforts (Arredondo, 2008; Wines, 2013). Additional research is warranted to enhance training for school counselors of color in leadership and advocacy.

Limitations

There were several limitations of this study. The first limitation is the use of self-report measures. All of the measures in this study relied on school counselors' self-assessments. Thus, the scores on the multicultural self-efficacy measure indicate school counselors' perceived multicultural counseling capabilities and do not refer to actual multicultural counseling practice. Similarly, the scores on the leadership measure provide information on school counselors' self-reported engagement in leadership practices versus actual engagement in leadership practices. Participants may have reported information in a more socially desirable manner given that they were aware that the study was focused on understanding school counselors' leadership practices in relation to multiculturalism.

Another limitation of this study is related to the leadership measure. Although the leadership measure used in this study has been utilized in previous research exploring school counselors' leadership practices, the measure is not specific to school counseling practices. Thus, the leadership practices measured in this study are general leadership practices applicable to multiple contexts and do not necessarily assess leadership practices that encompass counselor-specific tasks.

A third limitation of this study can be attributed to the sample. Due to the fact that this study included a limited (N = 212) sample of school counselors recruited from the ASCA directory; the results may not be generalizable to the entire population of school counselors. For instance; few study participants were school counselors of color or first year counselors, limiting the implications of this study for these particular populations of

counselors. Although participants were recruited nationally; the demographic questionnaire did not capture regional information so it is unknown if the sample is regionally representative. Further, as members of ASCA, the school counselors that participated may be more active and informed of topics and issues impacting the school counseling profession (such as multiculturalism, leadership, and advocacy) which may have resulted in school counselors self-reporting higher on the study's measures.

Conclusion

Fifteen years of new programs, testing, standards, and accountability have not ended racial achievement gaps in the United States (Sparks, 2016). Racial achievement gaps exist in nearly every district in the country and the districts with the most resources in place to serve all students frequently have the worst inequities (Reardon, 2015; Sparks 2016). Given that schools with the most resources are experiencing some of the largest achievement gaps, it is clear that school counselor leadership could be enacted to uncover systemic issues contributing to the academic underachievement of students of color.

Results from this study suggest that school counselors' multicultural capabilities and, in particular their awareness to systemic issues (such as assessment policies) impacting culturally diverse students, are critical to their engagement in leadership in schools. With the student population in the U.S. growing increasingly diverse and achievement gaps persisting; future research in school counselor leadership, grounded in multiculturalism and advocacy, would be useful to the school counseling profession in regards to equipping all school counselors to be systemic change agents in schools.

Appendix A

IRB Approval Letter



Office of Research Integrity and Assurance

Research Hall, 4400 University Drive, MS 6D5, Fairfax, Virginia 22030 Phone: 703-993-5445; Fax: 703-993-9590

DATE: January 5, 2016

TO: Regine Talleyrand

FROM: George Mason University IRB

Project Title: [844810-2] Examining the Relationship Among School Counselors'

Multicultural Self-Efficacy and Leadership Practices

SUBMISSION TYPE: Amendment/Modification

ACTION: DETERMINATION OF EXEMPT STATUS

DECISION DATE: January 5, 2016

REVIEW CATEGORY: Exemption category #2

Thank you for your submission of Amendment/Modification materials for this project. The Office of Research Integrity & Assurance (ORIA) has determined this project is EXEMPT FROM IRB REVIEW according to federal regulations.

Please remember that all research must be conducted as described in the submitted materials.

Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be submitted to the ORIA prior to initiation. Please use the appropriate revision forms for this procedure.

Appendix B

Recruitment Emails

- B1. Recruitment Invitation Email
- B2. Recruitment Follow-Up #1 Email
- B3. Recruitment Follow-Up #2 Email

B.1. Recruitment Invitation Email

Recruitment (Invitation) Email

Greetings,

You are being asked to participate in a research study conducted by Tracey Albert a student from George Mason University. You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you are listed as an elementary, middle, or high school counselor. This student wants to gather information about your leadership practices and multicultural self-perceptions and the survey will take roughly 20 minutes to complete. If you agree to participate in the study, you can elect to receive electronically (via email) an \$5 Starbucks or Amazon.com gift card for participation in this study. In order to participate in this study, you must be a practicing elementary, middle, or high school counselor. Please click on the following link for additional information if you are interested in participating: surveymonkeyURL. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Tracey R. Albert George Mason University IRBNet number 844810-1 Revised 12/25/15

IRB: For Official Use Only

MASON
Office of Research Integrity

Project Number: 844810-2

Page 1 of 3

B.2. Recruitment Follow-Up #1 Email

Follow-Up #1

Recruitment (Invitation) Email

Greetings,

This email serves as a follow-up to a previous email sent on (INSERT DATE). You are being asked to participate in a research study conducted by Tracey Albert a student from George Mason University. You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you are listed as an elementary, middle, or high school counselor. This student wants to gather information about your leadership practices and multicultural self-perceptions and the survey will take roughly 20 minutes to complete. If you agree to participate in the study, you can elect to receive electronically (via email) an \$5 Starbucks or Amazon com gift card for participation in this study. In order to participate in this study, you must be a practicing elementary, middle, or high school counselor. Please click on the following link for additional information if you are interested in participating: surveymonkeyURL. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Tracey R. Albert George Mason University IRBNet number 844810-1 Revised 12/25/15

MASON

Project Number: 844810-2

IRB: For Official Use Only

Page 2 of 3

B.3. Recruitment Follow-Up #2 Email

Follow-Up #2 (Final)

Recruitment (Invitation) Email

Greetings,

Just in case you were still interested in participating, this email serves as a final follow-up to previous emails. You are being asked to participate in a research study conducted by Tracey Albert a student from George Mason University. You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you are listed as an elementary, middle, or high school counselor. This student wants to gather information about your leadership practices and multicultural self-perceptions and the survey will take roughly 20 minutes to complete. If you agree to participate in the study, you can elect to receive electronically (via email) an \$5 Starbucks or Amazon.com gift card for participation in this study. In order to participate in this study, you must be a practicing elementary, middle, or high school counselor. Please click on the following link for additional information if you are interested in participating: surveymonkeyURL. Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Tracey R. Albert George Mason University IRBNet number 844810-1 Revised 12/25/15

IRB: For Official Use Only

MASON
Office of Research Integrity
& Assurance

Project Number: 844810-2

Page 3 of 3

Appendix C

Informed Consent

School Counselors' Leadership Practices & Multiculturalism

INFORMED CONSENT FORM

RESEARCH PROCEDURES

This is a national research study being conducted concerning school counselors' leadership practices and multiculturalism. The researcher in this study wishes to gather information about your leadership practices and multicultural self-perceptions. Gathering this type of information has the potential to enhance the future education and training of school counselors. There are three surveys on this website that you are being asked to complete, including a demographic questionnaire. These surveys should take roughly 20 minutes to complete.

If you agree to participate, please click the "Start Survey" button found below and complete the surveys. By doing so, you are providing and documenting your consent to participate. When you have completed all three surveys you will need to click the "Submit" button for your responses to be recorded as valid. Then, you will be directed to a web-based form where you can optionally enter your name and email address to receive electronically (via email) an \$5 Amazon.com or Starbucks gift card for participation in this study. If you do not wish to enter your name and email to receive the \$5 gift card, simply do not complete the web-based form and your survey responses will still be recorded as valid.

RISKS

There are no foreseeable risks if you participate in this study.

BENEFIT

There are no benefits to you as a participant other than to further research to develop an in-depth understanding of factors that impact school counselors' leadership practices in order to gain insight that can be useful for the future education and training of school counselors, and serve as the basis for further research.

CONFIDENTIALITY

The data in this study will be confidential. All survey responses will be used only for group analysis purposes. In fact, your name will not appear on any of the surveys and your responses will be identified only as a study code number. Information collected on the gift card giveaway page will be stored in a secure database separate from the database containing responses to the survey. If you elect to enter your information to receive the gift card, your personal information will be destroyed after you have received the gift card.

PARTICIPATION

MASON

Your participation is voluntary, and you may withdraw your consent and discontinue participation at any time and for any reason. If you do not wish to participate, simply do not complete the surveys.

IRB: For Official Use Only

Project Number: 844810-2

Page 1 of 2

If you agree to participate and complete the survey, you can optionally enter your name and email address to receive electronically (via email) an \$5 Amazon.com or Starbucks gift card for participation in this study. If you do not wish to enter your name and email to receive the \$5 gift card, simply do not complete the web-based form and your survey responses will still be recorded as valid.

CONTACT

This research is being conducted by Tracey Albert, College of Education and Human Development at George Mason University. She may be reached at 703-993-2087 for questions or to report a research-related problem. The student's faculty advisor is Dr. Regine M. Talleyrand and she can be reached at 703-993-4419. You may contact the George Mason University Office of Research Integrity & Assurance at 703-993-4121 if you have questions or comments regarding your rights as a participant in the research.

This research has been reviewed according to George Mason University procedures governing your participation in this research.

CONSENT

By clicking the START SURVEY button below, it indicates that I have read this form and agree to participate in this study.

IRB: For Official Use Only

MASON
Office of Research Integrity

Project Number: 844810-2

Page 2 of 2

Appendix D

Sociodemographic Questionnaire

Instructions: Please select the response that best describes you

- **1.** What is your sex?
 - o Male
 - o Female
- **2.** What is your age?
 - 0 20-30
 - 0 31-40
 - 0 41-50
 - 0 51-60
 - o 61 or over
- **3.** What best describes your race/ethnicity?
 - o Black/African-American
 - o Latino(a)/Hispanic
 - Asian/Pacific Islander
 - White/Caucasian
 - o Native American
 - o Bi-racial/Multi-racial
- **4.** How many (total) years of experience do you have as a school counselor?
 - o Less than 1 year
 - o 1-3 years
 - o 4-7 years
 - o 11-14 years
 - o 15-19 years
 - o Over 19 years
- **5.** How many years have you worked as a school counselor at the school where you are currently employed?
 - o Less than 1 year
 - o 1-3 years

- o 4-7 years
- o 11-14 years
- o 15-19 years
- o Over 19 years
- **6.** What is the school level where you are currently employed?
 - o Primary/elementary
 - o Middle/junior high
 - o High
 - o Alternative
 - o Multi-level
 - Other, please specify_____
- 7. How would you classify the school where you are currently employed?
 - o Suburban
 - o Urban
 - o Rural

Appendix E

Leadership Practices Inventory

The Leadership Practices Inventory (LPI) is a copyrighted instrument and is not reproduced in this study. Instructions for obtaining the LPI instrument can be obtained at www.leadershipchallenge.com/research

Appendix F

School Counseling Multicultural Efficacy Scale

<u>Directions:</u> The following scale is designed to assess your ability to do the following tasks related to multicultural school counseling. Please rate how well you can do the things described below by circling the appropriate number.

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not well at all		Not too well	l	Pretty well		Very Well

1. I can challenge others' racist and/or prejudiced beliefs and behaviors.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

2. I can discuss the relationship between student resistance and racism.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

3. I can assess my own racial/ethnic identity development in order to enhance my counseling.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

4. I can discuss how interaction patterns (student-to-student, student-to-faculty) might influence ethnic minority students' perceptions of the school community.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

5. I can discuss how culture affects the help-seeking behaviors of students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

6. I can use data to advocate for students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

7. I can discuss the influence of self-efficacy on ethnic minority students' achievement.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

8. When counseling, I can address societal issues that affect the development of ethnic minority students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

9. I can work with community leaders and other community members to assist with student (and family) concerns.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

10. I can use culturally appropriate counseling interventions.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

11. I can discuss the influence of racism on the counseling process.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

12. I can discuss how school-family-community partnerships are linked to student achievement

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

13. I can assess how my speech and tone influence my relationship with culturally different students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

14. I can discuss how school-family-community partnerships influence minority student achievement.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

15. I can develop culturally sensitive interventions that promote post-secondary planning for minority students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

16. I can identify when a counseling approach is culturally inappropriate for a specific student.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

17. I can develop a close, personal relationship with someone of another race.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

18. I can verbally communicate my acceptance of culturally different students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

19. I can discuss how culture influences parents' discipline and parenting practices.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

20. I can evaluate assessment instruments for bias against culturally diverse students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

21. I can identify when my helping style is inappropriate for a culturally different student.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

22. I can give examples of how stereotypical beliefs about culturally different persons impact the counseling process.1 2 3 4 5 6 7
23. I can nonverbally communicate my acceptance of culturally different students. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
24. I can analyze and present data that highlights inequities in course enrollment patterns and post-secondary decisions among student groups.1 2 3 4 5 6 7
25. I can identify when the race and/or culture of a student is a problem for a teacher. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
26. I can recognize when my beliefs and values are interfering with providing the best services to my students.1 2 3 4 5 6 7
 27. I can identify when specific cultural beliefs influence students' response to counseling. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
28. I can identify whether or not the assessment process is culturally sensitive. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
29. I can live comfortably with culturally diverse people. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
30. I can explain test information with culturally diverse parents. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
31. I can discuss how environmental factors such as poverty can influence the academic achievement of students. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
32. I can help students determine whether a problem stems from racism or biases in others.1 2 3 4 5 6 7
 33. I can identify when my helping style is appropriate for a culturally different student. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
34. I can discuss what it means to take an "activist" approach to counseling.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

35. I can develop friendships with people from other ethnic groups.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

36. I can challenge my colleagues when they discriminate against students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

37. When implementing small group counseling, I can challenge students' biased and prejudiced beliefs.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

38. I can develop interventions that are focused on 'systemic change' rather than 'individual student change.'

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

39. I can identify racist and/or biased practices in schools.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

40. I can integrate family and religious issues in the career counseling process.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

41. I can identify when my own biases negatively influence my services to students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

42. I can identify when my helping style is inappropriate for a culturally different parent or guardian.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

43. I can define and discuss racism.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

44. I can advocate for fair testing and the appropriate use of testing of children from diverse backgrounds.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

45. I can discuss how assessment can lead to inequitable opportunities for students. 1

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

46. I can identify when a teacher's cultural background is influencing his/her perceptions of students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

 47. I can identify unfair policies that discriminate against students of culturally different backgrounds. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
48. I can adjust my helping style when it is inappropriate for a culturally different student.

49. I can utilize career assessment instruments that are sensitive to student's cultural differences.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

- 50. I can develop positive relationships with parents who are culturally different 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 51. I can identify when to use data as an advocacy tool.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

52. I can use culturally appropriate instruments when I assess students.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

References

- Adams, K., & Hambright, G. (2005). Helping teachers become transformational leaders. *Academic exchange quarterly*, 9(2), 90-94. Retrieved from http://rapidintellect.com/AEQweb/
- Adelman, H. S., & Taylor, L. (2002). School counselors and school reform: New directions. *Professional School Counseling*, *5*(4), 235-249. Retrieved from http://professionalschoolcounseling.org/
- Agosto, V., Dias, L., Kaiza, N., Alvarez McHatton, P., & Elam, D. (2013). Culture-based leadership and preparation: A qualitative metasynthesis of the literature. In L. C. Tillman & J. J. Scheurich (Eds.), *Handbook of research on educational leadership for diversity and equity* (pp. 625-650). New York, NY: Routledge. doi.org/10.4324/9780203076934.ch27
- Amatea, E., & West-Olatunji, C. (2007). Joining the conversation about educating our poorest children: Emerging leadership roles for school counselors in high-poverty schools. *Professional School Counseling*, 11(2), 81-89. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n. 2010-11. 81
- American School Counselor Association. (2010). *Ethical standards for school counselors*. Alexandria, VA: Author. doi.org/10.1037/e504792012-001
- American School Counselor Association. (2016). *Draft Ethical standards for school counselors*. Retrieved from https://www.schoolcounselor.org/asca/media/asca/Ethics/ EthicalStandards2016Draft.pdf
- American School Counselor Association. (2003). *The ASCA national model: A framework for school counseling programs*. Alexandria, VA: Author.
- American School Counselor Association. (2005). *The ASCA national model: A framework for school counseling programs* (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: Author.
- American School Counselor Association. (2012). *The ASCA national model: A framework for school counseling programs* (3rd ed.). Alexandria, VA: Author. doi.org/10.1037/e504812012-001
- Arredondo, P. (2008). Using professional leadership to promote multicultural understanding and social justice. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, 2, 13-17. doi:10.1375/prp.2.1.13

- Balyer, A. (2012). Transformational leadership behaviors of school principals: A qualitative research based on teachers' perceptions. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 4(3), 581-591. Retrieved from http://www.iojes.net/
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84, 191-215. doi.org/10.1037//0033-295x.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. *American psychologist*, 37(2), 122. doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.37.2.122
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: W.H. Freeman.
- Banks, J. A. (1993). Multicultural education: Historical development, dimensions, and practice. *Review of research in education*, 3-49. doi.org/10.2307/1167339
- Banks, J. A., & McGee Banks, C. A. (Eds.). (2004). *Handbook of research on Multicultural education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Barakat, M., Witte, M. M., & Witte, J. E. (2013). School Leaders and Cultural Competence. *Handbook of Research on Teaching and Learning in K-20 Education*, 148-164. doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-4249-2.ch009
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1990). Developing Transformational Leadership: 1992 and beyond. *Journal of European industrial training*, *14*(5). 21-27. doi.org/10.1108/03090 599010135122
- Bemak, F. (2005). Reflections on multiculturalism, social justice, and empowerment groups for Academic success: A critical discourse for contemporary schools. *Professional School Counseling*, 8, 401-406. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/ stable/ 42732481?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents
- Bemak, F. (2000). Transforming the role of the counselor to provide leadership in educational reform through collaboration. *Professional School Counseling*, *3*, 323-331. Retrieved from http://professionalschoolcounseling.org/
- Bemak, F., & Chung, R. C.-Y. (2011). Applications in social justice counselor training: Classroom without walls. *The Journal of Humanistic Counseling*, *50*(2), 204-219. doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1939.2011.tb00119.x
- Bemak, F., & Chung R. C-Y. (2008). New professional roles and advocacy strategies for

- school counselors: A multicultural social justice perspective to move beyond the nice counselor syndrome. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, *38*, 372-381. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2008.tb00522.x
- Bemak, F., & Chung, R. C. (2007). Training counselors in social justice. In C. C. Lee (Ed.), *Counseling for social justice* (2nd ed., pp. 239–257). Greensboro, NC: American Counseling Association.
- Bemak, F., Chung, R. C-Y., & Sirosky-Sabado, L. A. (2005). Empowerment groups for academic success (EGAS): An innovative approach to prevent high school failure for at-risk urban African American girls. *Professional School Counseling*, 8, 377-389. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42732475?seq=1#page _scan _tab_contents
- Bemak, F., Chung, R. C.-Y., Talleyrand, R. M., Jones, H., & Daquin, J. (2011). Implementing multicultural social justice strategies in counselor education training programs. *Journal for Social Action in Counseling and Psychology*, *3*(1), 29–43. Retrieved from http://www.psysr.org/jsacp/bemak-v3n1-11_29-43.pdf
- Bemak, F., Willians, J., & Chung, R. C. Y. (2014). Four critical domains of accountability for school counselors. *Professional School Counseling*, *18*(1), 100-110. doi.org/10.5330/prsc.18.1.q40379257k35n1kx
- Bitterman, A., Gray, L., & Goldring, R. (2013). *Characteristics of Public and Private Elementary and Secondary Schools in the United States: Results from the 2011-12 Schools and Staffing Survey*. Washington DC: National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2013/2013314.pdf
- Bodenhorn, N., Wolfe, E., & Airen, O. (2010). School counselor program choice and self-efficacy: Relationship to achievement gap and equity. *Professional School Counseling*, *13*(3), 165–174._doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-13.165
- Bodenhorn, N. & Skaggs, G. (2005). Development of the school counselor self-efficacy scale. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, *38*, 14-28. Retrieved from http://mec.sagepub.com/
- Bridgeland, J., & Bruce, M. (2011). *National Survey of School Counselors:*Counseling at a Crossroads. College Board Advocacy & Policy Center. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED527749
- Bromberg, M., & Theokas, C. (2014). *Falling out of the lead: Following high achievers through high school and beyond*. Washington DC: The Education Trust. Retrieved from http://www.jkcf.org/assets/1/7/FallingOutoftheLead.pdf

- Brooks, F. (2008). Freedom and justice. In I. Bogotch, F. Beachum, J. Blount, J. Brooks, F. English, & J. Jansen (Eds.), *Radicalizing educational leadership: Dimensions of social justice: Vol. 2* (pp. 61-78). Rotterdam, Netherlands: Sense Publishers.
- Brooks, J. S., & Miles, M. T. (2010). Educational leadership and the shaping of school culture: Classic concepts and cutting-edge possibilities. In S. Douglass Horsford (Ed.), *New possibilities in educational leadership: Exploring social, political, and community contexts and meaning* (pp. 7-28). New York: Peter Lang.
- Bruce, M., & Bridgeland, J. (2012). 2012 National Survey of School Counselors: True North--Charting the Course to College and Career Readiness. College Board Advocacy & Policy Center. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED537913
- Bryan, J., & Henry, L. (2012). A model for building school–family–community partnerships: Principles and process. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 90(4), 408-420. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2012.00052.x
- Bryan, J. (2005). Fostering educational resilience and achievement in urban schools through school-family-community partnerships. *Professional School Counseling*, 219-227. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42732462?seq=1# page_scan_tab_contents
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2014). *Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey*, 2014-2015. Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/cps/cps_over.htm
- Burns, J. M. (1978). *Leadership*. New York, NY: Harper & Row. doi.org/10.2307/2129747
- Bustamante, R. M., Nelson, J. A., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2009). Assessing schoolwide cultural competence: Implications for school leadership preparation. *Educational Administration Quarterly*. 45(5), 793-827. doi.org/10.1177/0013161X09347277
- Campbell, C. A., & Dahir, C. A. (1997). Sharing the vision: The National standards for school counseling programs. Alexandria, VA: American School Counseling Association.
- Carey, J., & Dimmitt, C. (2012). School counseling and student outcomes: Summary of six statewide studies. *Professional School Counseling*, *16*(2), 146-153. doi.org/ 10.5330/psc.n.2012-16.146
- Carless, S. A. (2001). Assessing the discriminant validity of the Leadership Practices

- Inventory. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 74(2), 233-239. doi.org/10.1348/096317901167334
- Carter, R. T. (1995). The influence of race and racial identity in psychotherapy: Toward a racially inclusive model. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Chao, R. C. L. (2013). Race/Ethnicity and Multicultural Competence Among School Counselors: Multicultural Training, Racial/Ethnic Identity, and Color-Blind Racial Attitudes. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91(2), 140-151. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00082.x
- Chen-Hayes, S. F., & Getch, Y. Q. (2015). Leadership and achievement advocacy for every student. In B. T. Erford, (Ed.), *Transforming the school counseling profession* (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Chen-Hayes, S. F., Ockerman, M. S., & Mason, E. C. M. (2013). *101 solutions for school counselors and leaders in challenging times*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Chung, R. C. Y., Bemak, F., & Grabosky, T. K. (2011). Multicultural-social justice leadership strategies: Counseling and advocacy with immigrants. *Journal for Social Action in Counseling and Psychology*, *3*(1), 57-69. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.462.268&rep=rep1&ty pe=pdf
- Clemens, E. V., Milsom, A., & Cashwell, C.S. (2009). Using leader-member exchange theory to examine principal-school counselor relationships, school counselors' roles, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions. *Professional School Counseling*, 13, 75-85. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-13.75
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Colby, S. L., & Ortman, J. M. (2015). *Projections of the Size and Composition of the US Population: 2014 to 2060.* Washington DC: US Census Bureau. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2015/demo/p25-1143.pdf
- Collegeboard (2012). *AP Data-Report to the Nation*. New York, NY: The College Board. Retrieved from http://research.collegeboard.org/programs/ap/data/nation/2012
- Collins, S., Arthur, N., & Wong-Wylie, G. (2010). Enhancing reflective practice in multicultural counseling through cultural auditing. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 88(3), 340-347. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2010.tb00031.x

- Connerley, M. L., & Pedersen, P. B. (2005). *Leadership in a diverse and multicultural environment: Developing awareness, knowledge, and skills.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. doi.org/10.4135/9781483328966
- Constantine, M. G. (2001). The relationship between general counseling self-efficacy and self-perceived multicultural counseling competence in supervisees. *Clinical Supervisor*, 20, 81-90. doi.org/10.1300/j001v20n02_07
- Constantine, M. G. (2002). Racism attitudes, White racial identity attitudes, and multicultural counseling competence in school counselor trainees. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 41(3), 162-174. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6978.2002.tb01281.x
- Constantine, M. G., & Gushue, G. V. (2003). School counselors' ethnic tolerance attitudes and racism attitudes as predictors of their multicultural case conceptualization of an immigrant student. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 81(2), 185. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2003.tb00240.x
- Constantine, M. G., Juby, H. L., & Liang, J. J. C. (2001). Examining multicultural counseling competence and race-related attitudes among White marital and family therapists. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 27(3), 353-362. doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2001.tb00330.x
- Council for Accreditation of Counseling & Related Educational Programs (2016). 2016 CACREP Standards. Alexandria, VA: CACREP. Retrieved from http://www.cacrep.org/ for-programs/2016-cacrep-standards/
- Cox, A. A., & Lee, C. C. (2007). *Challenging educational inequalities: School counselors as agents of social justice*. In C. C. Lee (Ed.), Counseling for social justice. Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.
- Creswell, J. (2002). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Crook, T. (2010). Relationship between counseling self-efficacy and multicultural counseling self-efficacy among school counselors (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3430606).
- Curry, J. R., & DeVoss, J. A. (2009). Introduction to special issue: The school counselor as leader. *Professional School Counseling*, 13, 64-67.doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-13.64
- Daniels, J. A., & Larson, L. M. (2001). The impact of performance feedback on

- counseling self-efficacy and counselor anxiety. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 41, 120–130. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6978. 2001.tb01276.x
- Dollarhide, C. T. (2003). School counselors as program leaders: Applying leadership contexts to school counseling. *Professional School Counseling*, *6*, 304-308. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42732447?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents
- Dollarhide, C. T, & Gibson, D. M. (2008). Individual psychology in school counselor leadership: Implications for practice. *The Journal of Individual Psychology*, 64, 468-479. Retrieved from http://utpress.utexas.edu/index.php/journals/journal-of-individual-psychology
- Dollarhide, C. T., Gibson, D.M, & Saginak, K. A. (2008). New counselor's leadership efforts in school counseling: Themes from a qualitative study. *Professional School Counseling*, 11, 262-271. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-11.262
- Durden, F. E. (2011). *Multicultural Self-Efficacy: A Study of the Differences of High School Counselors in Relation to the Principal-Counselor Relationship* (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3460630).
- Education Trust. (1996). *National initiative to transform school counseling*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from edtrust.org
- Education Trust. (2014). *The State of Education for African American Students*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from https://edtrust.org/resource/the-state-of-education-for-african-american-students/
- Education Trust. (2014). *The State of Education for Latino Students*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from https://edtrust.org/resource/the-state-of-education-for-latino-students/
- Education Trust (2014). *The State of Education for Native Students*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from https://edtrust.org/resource/the-state-of-education-for-native-students/
- Ernst, K. A. (2012). *Self-efficacy, attachment, and school counselor service delivery* (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3502534).
- Evans, M. P., Zambrano, E., Cook, K., Moyer, M., & Duffey, T. (2011). Enhancing school counselor leadership in multicultural advocacy. *Journal of Professional Counseling: Practice, Theory & Research*, 38(2), 52–67. Retrieved from

- http://search.proquest.com/openview/b0d13d39a4d48a04306127b1d44732cd/1?pq-origsite=gscholar
- Ferrara, L.R. (2008). *Relationship of work experience to clinical and leadership competence of advanced practice nursing students* (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3321997).
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics. London: Sage.
- Fields, D. L., & Herold, D. M. (1997). Using the leadership practices inventory to measure transformational and transactional leadership. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, *57*(4), 569-579. doi.org/10.1177/001316449 7057004003
- Galassi, J. P., & Akos, P. (2004). Déjà Vu and Moving the Conversation Reactions to an Underutilized Partnership. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *32*(2), 235-244. doi.org/10.1177/0011000003261359
- Gay, G. (2002). Preparing for culturally responsive teaching. *Journal of Teacher Education 53*(2), 106-116. doi.org/10.1177/0022487102053002003
- Gershenson, S., Holt, S.B., Papageorge, N.W. (2016). Who believes in me? The effect of student-teacher demographic match on teacher expectations. *Economics of Education Review*, 52, 209-224. doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2016.03.002
- Gerstl-Pepin, C. I., & Aiken, J. A. (Eds.). (2012). *Social justice leadership for a global world*. New York, NY: Information Age Publication.
- Goodman, R. D., & West-Olatunji, C. A. (2010). Educational hegemony, traumatic stress, and African American and Latino American students. *Journal of multicultural Counseling and Development*, *38*(3), 176-186. doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.2010.tb00125.x
- Gordillo, F. A. (2015). The influence of counselor demographics, work experience, and training on counselor self-efficacy and multicultural counseling self-efficacy among urban school counselors (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3681192).
- Grant, C. A., & Sleeter, C. E. (1996). *After the school bell rings* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Falmer Press. doi.org/10.4324/9780203046517
- Hallinger, P. (2003). Leading educational change: Reflections on the practice of instructional and transformational leadership. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 33(3), 329-352. doi: 10.1080/0305764032000122005

- Hartline, J., & Cobia, D. (2012). School counselors: Closing achievement gaps and writing results reports. *Professional School Counseling*, *16*(1), 71-79. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2012-16.71
- Helms, J. E. (1985). Toward a theoretical explanation of the effects of race on counseling: A Black and White model. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *12*, 153-165. doi.org/10.1177/0011000084124013
- Helms, J. E. (1995). An update of Helms's White and people of color racial identity models. In J. G. Ponterotto, J. M. Casas, L. A. Suzuki, & C. M. Alexander (Eds.), *Handbook of multicultural counseling* (pp. 181–191). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Hernandez, F., Murkami, E. T., & Cerecer, P. Q. (2014). A Latina Principal Leading for Social Justice. *Journal of School Leadership*, 24(1), 568-598. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?q=%22%22&ff1=subEducational+Discrimination&id=EJ1045 501
- Holcomb-McCoy, C. (2005). Investigating school counselors' perceived multicultural counseling competence. *Professional School Counseling*, 8, 414-423. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42732483?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents
- Holcomb-McCoy, C. (2004). Assessing the multicultural competence of school counselors: A checklist. *Professional School Counseling*, 7, 178-183. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/42732560?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents
- Holcomb-McCoy, C. (2001). Exploring the self-perceived multicultural counseling competence of elementary school counselors. *Professional School Counseling*, *4*, 195-201. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ630580
- Holcomb-McCoy, C., & Day-Vines, N. (2004). Exploring school counselor multicultural Competence: A multidimensional concept. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, *37*, 154-162. Retrieved from http://mec.sagepub.com/
- Holcomb-McCoy, C., Harris, P., Hines, E., & Johnston, G. (2008). School counselors' multicultural self-efficacy: A preliminary investigation. *Professional School Counseling*, 11, 166-178. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-11.166
- Holcomb-McCoy, C., & Chen-Hayes, S. F. (2011). Culturally competent school counselors: Affirming diversity by challenging oppression. In B. T. Erford, (Ed). *Transforming the school counseling profession (3rd ed.)* (pp. 90-109). Boston, MA: Pearson.

- Horsford, S. D. (2010). Black superintendents on educating Black students in separate and unequal contexts. *The Urban Review*, 42(1), 58-79. doi.org/10.1007/s11256-009-0119-0
- Horsford, S., Grosland, T., & Gunn, K. M. (2011). Pedagogy of the personal and professional: Toward a framework for culturally relevant leadership. *Journal of School Leadership*, 21(4), 582-606. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?q= Pedagogy+ of+the+personal+and+&id=EJ986169
- House, R. M., & Sears, S. J. (2002). Preparing school counselors to be leaders and advocates: A critical need in the new millennium. *Theory into Practice*, 41(3), 154–162. doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip4103_3
- Huber, J. J., Hynds, A., Skelton, S., Papacek, A. M., Gonzalez, T., & Lacy, L. (2012). Considering incompatibility: Leaders as change agents in culturally responsive teaching and learning. In J. Aiken & C. Gerstl-Pepin (Eds.), *Social justice leadership for a global world* (pp. 115-131). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing
- Janson, C. (2009). High school counselors' views of their leadership behaviors: A Q methodology study. *Professional School Counseling*, 13, 86-97. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-13.86
- Janson, C., Stone, C., & Clark, M. (2009). Stretching Leadership: A Distributed Perspective for School Counselor Leaders. *Professional School Counseling*, 13(2), 98–106. doi.org/10.5330/PSC.n.2010-13.98
- Jean-Marie, G., Normore, A. H., & Brooks, J. S. (2009). Leadership for social justice: Preparing 21st century school leaders for a new social order. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 4(1), 1-31. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ875408.pdf
- Johnson, L. (2007). Rethinking successful school leadership in challenging US schools: Culturally responsive practices in school-community relationships. *International Studies in Educational Administration*, 35(3), 49-57. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Lauri_Johnson/publication/257922446_Reth inking_successful_school_leadership_in_challenging_U.S._schools_Culturally_re sponsive_practices_in_school-community_relationships/links/00b4953631 c3ac266b000000.pdf
- Keengwe, J. (2010). Fostering cross cultural competence in preservice teachers through multicultural education experiences. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *38*(3), 197-204. doi.org/10.1007/s10643-010-0401-5

- Kena, G., Musu-Gillette, L., Robinson, J., Wang, X., Rathbun, A., Zhang, J., Wilkinson-Flicker, S., Barmer, A., & Dunlop Velez, E. (2015). *The Condition of Education 2015 (NCES 2015-144)*. Washington DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch
- King, P.M. & Howard-Hamilton, M. (2000). Becoming a multiculturally competent student affairs professional. In NASPA (Ed.), *Diversity on campus*. Washington, DC: NASPA.
- Kirk, R. E. (1999). *Statistics an introduction* (4th ed.). Orlando, FL: Harcourt Brace College.
- Klingner, J. K., Artiles, A. J., Kozleski, E., Harry, B., Zion, S., Tate, W., ... & Riley, D. (2005). Addressing the disproportionate representation of culturally and linguistically diverse students in special education through culturally responsive educational systems. *Education policy analysis archives*, *13*(38), n38. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ846743.pdf
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2002). *The Leadership practices inventory: Theory and Evidence Behind the Five Practices of Exemplary Leaders*. Retrieved from http://media.wiley.com/assets/61/06/lc_jb_appendix.pdf
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2003). *The Leadership Practices Inventory (LPI):* Self & observer. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2008). A leader's legacy. John Wiley & Sons.
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z (2012). *The Leadership Practices Inventory: Self Instrument (3rd ed.)*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. doi.org/10.1037/t05490-000
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2012). *The leadership challenge: How to make extraordinary things happen in organizations*. San Francisco, CA: Josey-Bass. Krugman. doi.org/10.5860/choice.50-2759
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z (2013). *The Leadership Practices Inventory: Self Instrument (4th ed.)*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. doi.org/10.1037/t10768-000
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1992). Culturally relevant teaching: The key to making multicultural education work. In C.A. Grant (Ed.), *Research and Multicultural Education* (pp. 106-121).Bristol, PA: Falmer Press.

- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). Toward a theory of culturally relevant pedagogy. *American Educational Research Journal*, 32(3), 465-491. doi.org/10.3102/0002831 203 20 03465
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1998). Just what is critical race theory and what's it doing in a nice field like education? *International journal of qualitative studies in education*, 11(1), 7-24. doi.org/10.1080/095183998236863
- Lam, S. K. (1998). An Assessment of the Reliability and Validity of the Leadership Practices Inventory in Hong Kong. *International Journal of Management*, *15*(1), 57-59. Retrieved from ProQuest Education Journals.
- Larson, L.M., Clark, M.P., Wesely, L.H., Koraleski, S. F., Daniels, J.A., & Smith, P. L. (1999). Videos versus role-plays to increase counseling self-efficacy in prepracticum trainees. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, *38*, 237-248. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6978.1999.tb00574.x
- Larson, L. M., & Daniels, J. A. (1998). Embedding counseling self-efficacy within social cognitive theory. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 26, 179-218. doi.org/10.1177/0011000098262001
- Laurent, T. G., & Bradney, D. A. (2007). Leadership behaviors of athletic training leaders compared with leaders in other fields. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 42(1), 120. Retrieved from http://natajournals.org/.
- Lawrence, S., & Tatum, B. (1997). Teachers in transition: The impact of anti-racist professional development on classroom practice. *The Teachers College Record*, 99(1), 162-178. Retrieved from http://www.tcrecord.org/.
- Leach, M. M., Stoltenberg, C. D., McNeill, B., & Eichenfield, G. (1997). Self-efficacy and counselor development: Testing the integrated developmental model. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 37, 115-124. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6978.1997.tb00537.x
- Lee, E. (1998). Anti-racist education: Pulling together to close the gaps. In E. Lee, D. Menkart, & M. Okazawa-Rey (Eds.), *Beyond heroes and holidays: A practical guide to K-12 anti-racist, multicultural education and staff development* (pp. 26-34). Washington, DC: Network of Educators on the Americas.
- Lee, E. (2006). Anti-racist education: Pulling together to close the gaps. In E. Lee, D. Menkart, & M. Okazawa-Rey (Eds.), *Beyond heroes and liolidays: A practical guide to K-12 anti-racist, multicultural, and staff development* (pp. 3-12). Washington, DC: Teaching for Change.

- Lee, C.D. (1998). Culturally responsive pedagogy and performance-based assessment. *Journal of Negro Education*, 67(3), 268-279. doi.org/10.2307/2668195
- Lee, D. L., Rosen, A. D., & McWhirter, J. J. (2014). Assessing Changes in Counselor Trainees' Multicultural Competence Related to Service Learning. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 42(1), 31–41.doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.2014.00042.x
- Lee, C. (2001). Defining and responding to racial and ethnic diversity. In D. C. Locke, J. E. Myers, and E. L. Herr (Eds.) *The handbook of counseling*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. doi.org/10.4135/9781452229218.n36
- Leithwood, K. (1992) The principal's role in teacher development. In: M. Fullan & A. Hargreaves (Eds) *Teacher Development and Educational Change (pp.86-103)*. London: Falmer.
- Lent, R. W., Hoffman, M. A., Hill, C. E., Treistman, D., Mount, M., & Singley, D. (2006). Client-specific counselor self-efficacy in novice counselors: Relation to perceptions of session quality. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *53*, 453–463. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.53.4.453.
- Lindsey, R. B., Roberts, L. M., & CampbellJones, F. (2013). *The culturally proficient school: An implementation guide for school leaders*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Liu, Y., Wu, A. D., & Zumbo, B. D. (2010). The impact of outliers on Cronbach's coefficient alpha estimate of reliability: Ordinal/rating scale item responses. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 70(1), 5-21. doi: 10.1177/0013164409344548
- Lix, L. M., Keselman, J. C., & Keselman, H. J. (1996). Consequences of assumption violations revisited: A quantitative review of alternatives to the one-way analysis of variance F test. *Review of educational research*, 66(4), 579-619. doi.org/10.3102/00346543066004579
- López, J. A., Magdaleno, K. R., & Reis, N. M. (2006). Developing leadership for equity: What is the role of leadership preparation programs? *Educational Leadership and Administration*, 18, 11-19. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ EJ79 5090.pdf
- Lummus, S. (2010). Perceptions of required leadership behaviors for nurse leaders as measured by the leadership practices inventory (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3397182).

- Martin, P. J. (2002). Transforming school counseling: A national perspective. *Theory into Practice*, 41(3), 148-153. doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip4103_2
- Marzano, R. J. (2010). High expectations for all. *Educational leadership*, 68(1), 82-84. Retrieved from http://csp.spps.org/uploads/ascd_marzano_9_2010.pdf
- Mason, E., & McMahon, H. (2009). Leadership practices of school counselors. *Professional School Counseling*, 13(2), 107–115. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-13.107
- McLendon, S. (2015). *Predictive Variables for Multicultural Leadership Education* (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3732666).
- McMahon, H., Mason, E., & Paisley, P. (2009). School counselor educators as educational leaders promoting systemic change. *Professional School Counseling*, 13, 116-124. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-13.116
- McMillan, J. H., & Schumacher, S. (2006). *Research in Education: Evidence Based Inquiry* (6th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson
- Miklitsch, T. (2005). The relationship between multicultural education, multicultural experiences, racial identity, and multicultural competence among student affairs professionals (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3185290).
- Miller, B. J. (2010). *The changing roles of school counselors in an era of school accountability*. The Pennsylvania State University. Retrieved from https://etda.libraries.psu.edu/paper/10306/6209
- Mueller, J.A. & Pope, R.L. (2001). The relationship between multicultural competence and White racial consciousness among student affairs practitioners. *Journal of College Student Development*, 42, 133-144.
- Murrell, Peter C., Jr. (2007). Race, Culture and Schooling: Identities of Achievement in Multicultural Urban Schools. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erbaum.
- Na, G. (2012). Relationship Between School Counselor Multicultural Counseling Competence and Self-Efficacy in Working with Recent Immigrant Students (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3543596).
- National Center for Education Statistics (2013). *The Nation's Report Card: A First Look:* 2013 Mathematics and Reading (NCES 2014–451). National Center for

- Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education, Washington, D.C. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/ nations reportcard/
- National Center for Education Statistics (2015). *Racial/Ethnic Enrollment in Public Schools*. National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education, Washington, D.C. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/ indicator _cge.asp
- Nelson, J. A., Bustamante, R., Sawyer, C., & Sloan, E. D. (2015). Cultural Competence and School Counselor Training: A Collective Case Study. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 43(3), 221-235. doi.org/10.1002/jmcd.12016
- Ndura, E., Robinson, M., & Ochs, G. (2003) Minority students in high school Advanced Placement courses: Opportunity and equity denied. *American Secondary Education*, *32*(1) 21-38. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41064502? seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents
- Noguera, P. (2001). Racial politics and the elusive quest for excellence and equity in education. *Education and Urban Society*, *34*, 18–41. doi.org/10.1177/001312 4501341003
- Normore, A. H. (Ed.). (2008). *Leadership for social justice: Promoting equity and excellence through inquiry and reflective practice*. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.
- Northouse, P. (2004). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Nunnally, J. C. (1978). *Psychometric theory* (2nd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Ockerman, M. S., & Mason, E. (2012). Developing School Counseling Students' Social Justice Orientation through Service Learning. *Journal of School Counseling*, *10*(5), 1-26. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ978861.pdf
- Ohrt, J.H., Lambie, G.W., & Ieva, K.P. (2009) Supporting Latino and African American students in Advanced Placement courses: A school counseling program's approach. *Professional School Counseling*, *13*, 59-63. doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-13.59
- Osborne, J.W. (2012). Best practices in data cleaning: A complete guide to everything you need to do before and after collecting your data. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc. doi.org/10.4135/9781452269948

- Ottavi, T. M., Pope-Davis, D. B., & Dings, J. G. (1994). Relationship between White racial identity attitudes and self-reported multicultural counseling competencies. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 41(2), 149-154. doi.org/10.1037//00220 167. 41 .2.149
- Owens, D., Bodenhorn, N., & Bryant, R. M. (2010). Self-Efficacy and Multicultural Competence of School Counselors. *Journal of School Counseling*, 8(17), 1-20. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ885220.pdf
- Parker, W. M., Moore, M. A., & Neimeyer, G. J. (1998). Altering White racial identity and interracial comfort through multicultural training. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 76(3), 302-310. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1998.tb02546.x
- Pedhazur, E. J., & Schmelkin, L. P.(1991). *Measurement, design, and analysis: An integrated approach.* Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum. doi.org/10.2307/2348155
- Petrocelli, J. V. (2003). Hierarchical multiple regression in counseling research: Common problems and possible remedies. *Measurement and evaluation in counseling and development*, 36(1), 9-22. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/ John_Petrocelli/publication/253174364_Hierarchical_Multiple_Regression_in_C ounseling_Research_Common_Problems_and_Possible_Remedies/links/02e7e52 9892f6f3527000000.pdf
- Plucker, J. A., Burroughs, N., & Song, R. (2010). Mind the (other) gap. *The growing excellence gap in K-12 education. Bloomington, IN: Center for Evaluation and Education Policy*. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED531840.pdf
- Pope-Davis, D. B., & Ottavi, T. M. (1992). The influence of White racial identity attitudes on racism among faculty members: A preliminary examination. *Journal of College Student Development*, 33, 389-394. Retrieved from https://muse.jhu.edu/journal/238
- Potter, T. K. (2001). Teacher leadership. *Journal of Correctional Education*, 52(3), 120-125. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/23294555?seq=1# page_scan tab contents
- Ratts, M., DeKruyf, L., & Chen-Hayes, S. (2007). The ACA advocacy competencies: A social justice advocacy framework for professional school counselors. *Professional School Counseling*, 11(2), 90-97. http://dx.doi.org/10.5330/psc.n.2010-11.90
- Ratts, M. J., Singh, A. A., Nassar-McMillan, S., Butler, S. K., & McCullough, J. R.

- (2016). Multicultural and Social Justice Counseling Competencies: Guidelines for the Counseling Profession. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 44(1), 28–48. doi.org/10.1002/jmcd.12035
- Reardon, S.F. (2015). School Segregation and Racial Academic Achievement Gaps (CEPA Working Paper No.15-12). Stanford Center for Education Policy Analysis. Retrieved from http://cepa.stanford.edu/wp15-12
- Riehl, C. J. (2000). The principal's role in creating inclusive schools for diverse students: A review of normative, empirical, and critical literature on the practice of educational administration. *Review of Educational Research*, 70(1), 55-81. doi.org/10.2307/1170594
- Santamaría, L. J., & Santamaría, A. P. (2013). *Applied critical leadership in education: Choosing change*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Santamaría, L. J., & Santamaría, A. P. (2015). Counteracting Educational Injustice With Applied Critical Leadership: Culturally Responsive Practices Promoting Sustainable Change. *International Journal of Multicultural Education*, *17*(1), pp—22. doi.org/10.18251/ijme.v17i1.1013
- Scarborough, J. L., & Culbreth, J. R. (2008). Examining discrepancies between actual and preferred practice of school counselors. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 86(4), 446-459. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2008.tb00533.x
- Sebera, K. (2005). An analysis of the relationship between *Leadership attributes and the overall job satisfaction of professional school counselors in the United States* (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3191719).
- Shield, C. (2012). *Transformative leadership in education: Equitable change in an uncertain and complex world*. New York, NY: Routledge. doi.org/10.4324/9780203814406
- Shillingford, M. A, & Lambie, G. W., (2010). Contribution of professional school counselors' values and leadership practices to their programmatic delivery. *Professional School Counseling*, 13,208-217. doi.org/10.5330 psc.n.2010-13.208
- Singleton, G. E., & Linton, C. (2006). *Courageous conversations about Race*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Sirin, S. R., Rogers-Sirin, L., & Collins, B. A. (2010). A measure of cultural competence as an ethical responsibility: Quick-Racial and Ethical Sensitivity Test. *Journal of Moral Education*, *39*(1), 49-64. doi.org/10.1080/03057240903528675

- Skrla, L., Scheurich, J., Garcia, J., & Nolly, G. (2006). Equity audits: A practical leadership tool for developing equitable and excellent schools. In C. Marshall & M. Oliva (Eds.) *Leadership for social justice: Making revolutions in education* (2nd ed., pp. 251-278). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Smith, L. C., Geroski, A. M., & Tyler, K. B. (2014). Abandoning Colorblind Practice in School Counseling. *Journal of School Counseling*, *12*(16). Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1034760.pdf
- Sodowsky, G. R., Taffe, R. C., & Gutkin, T. B. (1991). Effects of cultural consistent counseling tasks on credibility: A preliminary investigation. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 69, 253-256. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556 6676. 1991.tb01498.x
- Soper, D. (2014). Post-hoc statistical power calculator for multiple regression [Software]. Retrieved from http://www.danielsoper.com/statcalc/
- Sparks, S. (2016, April 29). Achievement Gaps and Racial Segregation: Research Finds an Insidious Cycle. *Education Week*. Retrieved from http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/inside-school-research/2016/04/achievement_gaps_school_segregation_reardon.html
- Sperling, R. (2007). Service-learning as a method of teaching multiculturalism to white college students. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, *6*(4), 309-322. doi.org/10.1080/15348430701473454
- Stajkovic, A. D., & Luthans, F. (1998). Self-efficacy and work-related performance: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *124*(2), 240–261. doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.124.2.240
- Sue, D. W., Arredondo, P., & McDavis, R. J. (1992). Multicultural counseling competencies and standards: A call to the profession. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 70(4), 477-486. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1992.tb01642.x
- Sue, D. W., & Sue, D. (1990). Counseling the culturally different: Theory and practice. New York: Wiley.
- Sutton Jr, J. M., & Fall, M. (1995). The relationship of school climate factors to counselor self-efficacy. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 73(3), 331-336. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1995.tb01759.x
- Talleyrand, R. M., Chung, R. C., & Bemak, F. (2006). Incorporating social justice in

- counselor training programs. *Handbook for social justice in counseling psychology: Leadership, Vision, and Action*, 45-58. doi.org/10.4135/97 81 412976220.n4
- Theoharis, G. (2007). Social justice educational leaders and resistance: Toward a theory of social justice leadership. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 43(2), 221-258. doi.org/10.1177/0013161x06293717
- Tomlinson-Clarke, S. M., & Clarke, D. (2010). Culturally focused community-centered service learning: An international cultural immersion experience. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, *38*(3), 166-175. doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.2010.tb00124.x
- Touchton, D., & Acker-Hocevar, M. (2001). *Using a Lens of Social Justice To Reframe Principals' Interviews from High Poverty, Low Performing Schools*. Paper presented at the annual convention of the University Council for Educational Administration, Cincinnati, Ohio. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED465219.pdf
- Tuckman, Bruce, W. (1999). *Conducting Educational Research* (fifth Edition). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Group.
- Valencia, R. & Solórzano, D. (1997) Contemporary deficit thinking, In: R. Valencia (Ed.) The evolution of deficit thinking in educational thought and practice (pp.160-210). New York, NY: Falmer Press.
- Weigand, M.J. (2005). The relationships between multicultural competence, racial identity, and multicultural education and experiences among students affairs professionals responsible for first-year student orientation programs. (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3169117).
- Welch, B. L. (1951). On the comparison of several mean values: an alternative approach. *Biometrika*, *38*(3/4), 330-336. doi.org/10.1093/biomet/38.3-4.330
- White-Hood, M. (2007). Becoming Culturally Proficient. *Principal Leadership*, 8(1), 35-36. Retrieved from ProQuest Education Journals.
- Wines, L. A. (2013). Multicultural Leadership in School Counseling: An Autophenomenography of an African American School Counselor's Successes and Challenges. *Research in the Schools*, 20(2), 41-56. Retrieved from http://www.msera.org/old-site/rits.htm
- Wood, R., & Bandura, A. (1989). Impact of conceptions of ability on self-regulatory

- mechanisms and complex decision making. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 56(3), 407-415. doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.56.3.407
- Wyse, J. (2014). The relationship between attachment theory and transformational leadership in California community college chief executive officers (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI 3616099).
- Young, A., & Bryan, J. (2015). The School Counselor Leadership Survey: Instrument Development and Exploratory Factor Analysis. *Professional School Counseling*, 19(1), 1-15. doi.org/10.5330/1096-2409-19.1.1
- Young, A., Dollarhide, C. T., & Baughman, A. (2015). The Voices of School Counselors: Essential Characteristics of School Counselor Leaders. *Professional School Counseling*, 19(1), 36-45. doi.org/10.5330/1096-2409-19.1.36
- Young, A., & Kaffenberger, C. (2013). Making DATA Work: A Process for Conducting Action Research. *Journal of School Counseling*, 11(2). Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1012262.pdf
- Zalaquett, Carlos P., Katherine M. Fuerth, Carmen Stein, Allen E. Ivey, and Mary Bradford Ivey. (2008). Reframing the DSM-IV-TR From a Multicultural/Social Justice Perspective. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 86(3), 364-371. doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2008.tb00521.x

Biography

Tracey R. Albert graduated from Cerritos High School, Cerritos, California, in 2002. She received her Bachelor of Arts in Sociology from Howard University in 2006 and then received her Master of Education in School Counseling from Howard University in 2008. She was employed as a middle and high school counselor in Fairfax County, Virginia for seven years prior to her current work in education policy.